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. ALANGUDE TALUK
 PUDUKKOTTAT -

-

Pudukkottai, formerly the State capital of Tondaiman rulers, is about 235 miles from
Madras on the main line-of Southern railway to Raméswaram.  The:tawn. is situated in
the valley of the Vellar— the historic river that formerly separated: the Koradu and the
XKanadu, the Cholas and the Pandyas, and the Tanjoreans and the Setupatis. of Ramnad:

The former Pudukkottai State was bound by Tiruchirappalli, Tanjore and Ramanatha-
puram districts. It expanded by conquests at different times, and its boundaries have been
determined by the history of the state. The state'comprised an area of 1178 sq. miles, and -
was divided into 3 taluks, namely, the Alangudi taluk, the Kulattur taluk and the Tiru-
mayam taluk. a : i

The rivers that flow in the Pudukkottai area are only jungle streams, remain dry for a
greater portion-of the year. The rivers that worth mentioning are the Velfar, the Kundary
and the Pambaru. The Vellar originates in the Velamalaj inthe Marungapuri tract to the
west: of Pudukxkottai and falls into the Bay of Bengal to the north of Manamelkudi in the
Tanjore district, after a course of about 85 miles: The Kundaru tages its rise in the Kavi-
nadu tank and after a course of about 5 miles falls into the Vellar river near Kadayakkudi, -
The Pambaru is the outflow of Perundurai tank in the Melur tract of the Tirumayam talsk.
Tt joins the Vellar river rear Arantangi and separates from it and flows again as an inde-
pendent river, and. dividing itself into five branches near Sundarapandiyaguram-
fn the Taniore district, falls into the Bay of Bengal. - ,

Numerous hills and lofty rocks are to be found around Pudukkottai. The important
among them are the Piranmalai hills (1,800"), the Narttamalai hills, the Sevalur hills and,
the near Annavasal hills. Granite and Laterite (near Arimalam) are abundantly available
for building purposes. Granite of fine quality for stone carving is also quarried invm]ab-mang |
places. : - R

Though Pudukkottai area is poor in precious metals, it produces-a few useful mirerals
fike lime, Brick clay, Potter’s clay, Bangle earth, Dhobice’s earth, etc. Infericr varieties of -
Magaetic Iron Ores at Malampatti and Mica at Annavasal are also recorded. .

The soil of the area is'for the greater part “Red Ferruginous’, Accerding 5 local”
usage, the soil of this area is divided into-six classes. (1) Padugai, (2) Karisal, (3) Sevval,
(4) Manal, (5) Saralai and (6) Kalar. i

Pudukkottai area was originally surrounded by thick forests. The seuthern portion
of the State was called Kanadu (or the forest tract). The names of the Gods such as Ata-
visvarar or “the lord of the forest ’ at Kulavaippatti, ¢ Talavanesvarar * or ‘the lord of the
palm forest” at Vaittur, and Venuvanesvari or ‘the goddess of the bamboo.reed forest *
at Tirumayam testify to this fact. In course of time the forests were cleared and villages
were established, a fact also established by the namie of villages such as Mangadu (mango -
forest), Vadakadu (the rorthern forest), Kilankadu (wild apple forest), Kottaikkadu (the
fort forest) and Alangadu (banyan forest). The traces of forests are still found by the
 numerous forests available in and around Pudukkottai for ¢ Game Shooting?, among
whiich the following names may be mentioned : (1) Senkarai forest, (about 17 squaré miles),
(2) Narttamalai forest, and (3) Tiruvarankulam forest. In these forests very valuable and °
useful trees are available. The names of some of the forest trees are as foHows: - -

On the level and low-lying portions there is a thick growth of Memecylon (sm&m)
which:is hardly penetrable, and overhead are standards ef Mimusops(Li73v), Pterospermum
(DY), Albizzia amara (29%), Dalbergia paniculata (118 dv iy ib), with a lower
growth of Atalantia (&7 . QL guil $ev &), and Ixora parviflora (%5 g) at _higher levels
thége are Wrightia (@it ), stunted. Satinwood (ausiribgih), and  Nim (Caribyy), -
Agacia, Caesia (Gaye oy ib), Mimosa _rubicaulis (Qeusr S i b), Zizyphus (Qeijems),
Corisss { ®ar ), ete. ) ' o
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_ In the open tracts uhe undergrowth consists fergely of prickly pear ard the stundards:

. Acacia latronum (e.esc.Ceveir) and Albizzia -amara (2. @¥viopib), Besides useful trees. -
it is.rich in medical plants, herbs and reots, The Narttamalai hills are especially noted
for suchi plants and roots.  * , T ' _

. About the Fauna of the area, there is nothing remarkablé to mention, - Jn the * Reserve

. Foress* are found wild pigs, spotted deer, har¢s, porcupines snd wolves. Foxes, fackals
- wild cats, civet cats afid monitor lizards are found in the Town forests. Amcng the gﬁ’mf: '
- birds may be men;ione‘d snipes, jungle-fowls, quails, partridges and several kirds of pigfcns.‘

R " The history of Pudukkoitai is an epitome cf the history of South Iodia. There are

I around Pudukkottai many vestiges of the oldest habitatiors of man, scme of the .

., . oldestlithic records known in the South, and towns and villages renowned in the oldest
. books of the Tamil language. The Pandyas, Cholas, Pallavas, Hoysalas, Vijayanagar
and ‘Madurai Nayaks ruled over the State, fostered its communal organisations, trade and
industries and embellished it withitemples and monuments of outstanding merit. When the
. " 'South felt the impact of the Muslim onslaught, this area was not spared: When -
... Niiyak rule at Madurai tostered, the Poligars plundered and ravaged the country for more
.., tham a cenfury until the Tondaimans of Ambukkovil subdued them and ‘carved out the -
- foriher state of Pudukkottai. - . : P

. S There are two accounts now prevailing atout the origin of the Tondaiman rulers of
2.7 Pudukkottai. The Tondaimans of the rulinig line are said to bave come like the Pallave-
e -0 - rayarsfrom Tondaimandalam, comprising the present Chingleput acd North Arcot districts,
0 Uhe Tondaimans belong to Kallar tribe that lived on the hills rear Tirupati and skilfsl
o . estthers of elephants. We may suppose that some of these were engaged by the Pallava -
R Kings of Conjeevaram as mahouts or leaders of the Palace elephants, and that one of them .
- with his people followed a Pallavarayar from Conjeevaram and bed hands at  Ambukkoyit
and vome other villages assigned to him. . ' ' o
The Tondaimans are said to liave for a tirie Halted at Anbilnadw, a village to the east
of Tirushirappelli, South of Tanjore &ind north of Ramanathapuram, before they settled.
~ down at Ambukkovil. Along with the Tondaimans, nine other tribes settled in Anbilnadw.
Thﬂ ?e"dig;inguishingtiﬂes_ of theten tribesarcrespectively the following :— -

" . 1, Manikkiran. o - 2. Panrikopdran.
.~ . 3.Pirppantikendran. - . 4 Kaduvetti. - o
"~ '5.. Menaltaraiyan. . 6. Pallavarayan.
7. Tondaiman. 8. Rangiyan.
9. Kaliyiran. 10. Porpanrikondran.

' Aftarsetting at Anbilnadu, two mote freshiribes of Kallars joined With them. ‘Fheyare: —
| 1.:Adaiyavalanjan, and 2. Kalingarsn. -

" . Fhewhole body then moved in diffefenit directions and are said to have fownd the nige
settlements {or Kuppams), the names of whichk gre :— - ‘

Ea -1 Pilaviduhi. . 2. Vadakkalue. - 3. Kaftakottai. |
S 4. Kasarabailtuds. 5. Neiveli. _ © 6. Navanglyanpatti. -
© % Ammanippatti. 8. Panduvakikottei. * .9 Mangalavellals Viduthi.

__ Kodonding to the account found in the legendry ofigin, the cartier ‘Tondaintans are
.+ found it Telogu poem callted * the Tondaiman Vamsavali *. which was Written by a court
. poet of the name of Venkanna about 1750'A. D.  According to- the poem, gm |
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King of Heaven dvring histdut on the eaﬁh, mct a fn&iden, and married lter. The Woman
gave birth to many sons, one of whom became a ruler. From him was descended the
famous following line :— : : ‘ : :

1. Tiruma. 2. Namana. 3. Pacchai. . . 4. Dandaka.
5. Namana. ° 6. Tiruma. 7. Namana. ‘8. Pacchai.
9. Namana. 10. Pacchai. I1. Kinkini: 12. Dandaka.
13. Tiruma.  14. Pacchai. 15. Raya Tondaiman.

: While Sriranga Rayalu, King of Vijayanagar and the suzerain of Gingee, Tanjore and
- Madural was touring or halting on his pilgrimage to Rameswaram, one of his elephants got
out of control and caused great havoc. Avadat Raghunatha Tondaiman, son of Pacchai
Tondaiman of Karambakkudi, captured the elephant with great skill, and conducted it to
Stiranga Rayalu. The King was mmuch impressed by this courageous act and conferred
on Avadai Raghunatha Tondaiman the title of ‘Raya’ and also granted to him some lands
and many insignias of distinction such as an elephant with howdah, a lion faced palanquin,
the right to use torches inthe day-time and a couple of bards to go in front of his palanquin
singing his praises. : ‘ ‘

‘ It is believed that there must Have been somie connection between Avadai Raghunatha

Tondaiman and the Vijayanagar line of rulers, as in all the Copper-plates issued by the
Tondaimans, Avadai Tondaiman is flever mentioned by this name, but is always called
‘ Raya Tondaiman * who got the title of * Raya’ from (Sriranga) Rayar. The first Tondai-
man ruler of Pudukkottai inherited the title and called himself Raghunatha Raya Tondai-
© than (1686-1730 A.D.). and some of his successors also adopted the title.

Raya Tondaiman had four sons of the names of Raghunatha, Namana, Pacchai and
Peruma, and a daughter also of the name of Kathali.

Raghunatha Tondaimap and his brothers were bravemen, skilled in hunting. Raghu-
natha Tondaiman succeeded his father Raya Tondaiman as the rulet of the estates rear
Pilaviduthi under the title of Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman. He is said to have been born
in 1641 and become ruler in 1661. o S

Vijayaraghava Nayak, King of Tanjore, hearing of the personal strength and courage of
‘Rdghunatha Raya Tondaiman js said to have invited him to his court and utilised him to
check the lawless Kallars who infested the road to Rameswaram and attacked the pilgrims.
He rose higher and higher in service and continued to hold his place with credit {ill a bout
the close of Nayak rule in Tanjore about 1674. The Raja in appreciation of his services,
presented to the Tondaiman a necklace with a pendant containing a diamond of the
variety and alavge State sword named ¢ Periya Rama Banam’.

Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman helped in 1682 to Ranga Krishna Muttuvirappa Nayak
to save the Tiruchirappalli Fort from falling in the hands of his enemies, and this victory
brought the fame and position to him, and he was appointed as the Arasu-Kavalkar of
Tiruchirappalli. ' 7

We shall see now how Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman became the ruler of Pudukkottai'.r
(So far he was only a ruler to the estates of his father). =

. The Setupathi of Ramnad, Vijaya Raghunathe Kilavan Setupati (1673—1710 A.D,)
hearing of the prowess of the Tondaiman, invited Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman and his
brother Namana Tondaiman to Ramnad and engaged them in military service. These
two are said to have been useful in subduing a aumber of Tevans (minor chieflaiss) who
had. been giving the Setupati a good deal of trouble, and thus secured the esteem of the
Setupati. Raghunatha, Raya Tondaiman is said bave signalised bimself by . performing

L}
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- two. expltts: whick endeared hirnself to tho Setupati. Gue of them was the ospture of the-
state el -of the/Tanjore Kingdom: with whose Rajw thic Setupati:was engaged in hosti-
lities. And the other exploit is said to have been the subjugation of the Palayakiic of Btteiya-

. puram. : ‘ . ' :

At this time the Setupati fellin love with Kathali, sister of the Tondaimans; and married
er. She is smaid to have been the seoond wife of Kilavan Setupati, who is known to
bave had more than 47 wives. She seems to.have been much attached to her husband and
' committed sati on the death of her husband in 1710. - R

This marriage strengthened the ties of friendship between Tondaimans and the Setupati.
About this time, according to the Tondaiman Vamsavali, one of the elephants-of the Setu-
* pati got out of eontrol and Namana Tondaiman is said to have captured it with great dexte-
_ ‘rity and boldness and prevented much bloodshed. This incident still further enhanced
- the esteem -of the Setupati for the Tondaimans. . SR

: At this stage, the Tondaimans wanted to retum back to their estates. It is said that.
the Setupati desired to present Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman with a Palgyam and that it
- was suggested that the palayam of the Pallavarayans might be granted to the Tondaimans. -
' "The last Pallavarayar, Seventheluntha Pallavarayar, who had assumed the title of Raja
like the king of Tanjore or the Setupati of Ramnad himself, seems to have held a small tract-
- of land, to the south of the Vellar as a fief of Ramnad. Seventheluntha Pallavarayar,
. the roler, was sommoned by Kilavan Setupati to appear before him. The Setupati was at
Kalayarkoil, 10 miles east of Sivaganga, and the Pallavarayar halted at Kandadevi, about
- 4 miles frora Kalayarkovil. The Pallavarayar was sent for ; but as he was then engaged.
" i puja (to Siva) it was reported to the Setupati that the Pallavarayar, would start to se¢ him’

" - onthe completion of the pujs. The Setupati was immensely provoked, abused the Pallava-

rayar for thinking mote of his puja than of him liege lord, and, placing his son in his State
- elephant, directed him to march to Xandadevi and make an end of the Pallavarayar. The
prince met him on the banks of a drinking. water pond of Kandadevi and had him seized
by hi» men. And the Pallavarayar, finding resistance useless, died with the curse on bis
mouth that the Setupatis should soonen or later lose all their sovereign rights. On heaiing
thé death, the wives and children of the Pallavarayar are said to have committed suicide by
throwing themselves into a pit in the Pallavan tank in front of the palace. '

. Foundation of the Pudukkottai Tondaiman line of rulers (1686). —The Setupati then
- sentfor a gold palanquin, and, presentedit to the Tondaimans, asked Ilandai Ambala-
Raan, a military officer under him, to take the Tondaimans to Dharma Pillai, the Setupati’s -
agent at Tirumayam, and to arrange for Raghunatha Tondaiman’s being installed as the
. ruler of the Pallavarayars’ dominions. At this time a sword of honour is said to have
- been presented by the Setupa#i to Tondaiman which is known as Chinna Rama Banam
snd also 'a Valampuri Conch. (conch opening to the right.) ' o :

‘ - This is a short account of what is called the Setupati origin of the Pudukkottai State
" and the foundation of Tondaiman line of rulers. An examination on the whole question
‘tends to show that it was a tract of land to the south of the vellar that the TPondaiman got
from the Setupati, and’ later Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman stepped into the place
~yacated by the last of the Pallavarayars. . L o L,

" Origin of the Kulattur Tondaiman (1690).— About the time that. Raghunatha Raya

Tondaiman became the ruler of Pudukkottai, Namana Tondaiman (The second brother) .

bedame the ruler of Kulattur. The Palayakar of Nagtlapuram (in Ticunclveli District)

hind become insubordinate to the power of fhe Nayak ralet off Madurai, and refused: to: pay

tie-asualtributes. The Mayak ruler who had' already received a substantial helji frorh the

. Tomtdhimens directed'them to precesd to- Nagalaparam and: bring its chieftain under subjugw:
tien. - Ascordingly Namyana Tendaiman defeated the chioftain and some. otiser Palayakanas
wite allied with him swel as Puli Devet and Kattabomms Nayaknd breught thous aghill

-~
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+under the rulé of the Nayak of Madurai. He has also returned all the horses, elephants
:and presents that he won in the war to the Nayak ruler at Tiruchirappalli. The Nayak King
Ranga Krishna Muttu Virappa (1682—89) was so much pleased with the way in which the
affair was managed that he presented Nomana Tondaiman with the tract of land about
_Kulattur from the lands that were direetly under the rule of Nayak Kings. This ‘free-
gift land > did not become a poition of Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman’s dominions, as
“Namana Tondaiman set himself up asa separateruler. The attachment of Namana Tondai-
man was so much towards Nayak ruler, he called himself Ranga Krishna Muttu Yirappa
“Namana Tondaiman. He received from the Nayak King various presents and marks of
distinction such as the use of flags (Hanumadhwaja and Garudadhwaja), use of torches

“in the day time, etc. .

So about the year 1690,. we find Ragunatha Raya Tondéiman ruling at Pﬁdukkottai
-and Namana Tondziman ruling at Kulattur. The letters of the Madura Mission to Rome
_-speak of these as * The Tondaiman * and ‘ Chinna Tondaiman .

At this time, the Visenginadu Kallars appear to have been particularly given trounle
40 the Nayak rulers of Tiruchirappalli by their plundering expeditions. At the request of
‘Nayak rulers, Namana Tondaiman encountered them at Puliyur, defeated them and cut
-off the heads of all important men.

Vijaya Ranga Chokkanatha Naiyak, ruler of Tiruchirappalli, found the useful services of
“Tondaimans and retained them in his court. The suspicions and displeasure against the
Kandalur chieftain, who had been for a time in disgrace, were revived by the Tondaiman

-who was apparently the personal enemy of the chieftain, with the result that the chieftain
~was deprived of his principality, which was transferred to the Tondaiman as a personal
appanige. Avur and many other villages extending from Tiruchirappalli in the direction
of the Kingdom of Madurai were made over in 1707 to the Tondaiman, as a favour by the
“Raja of Tiruchirappalli, whose favourite the Tondiman had become.

After acquiring th: principality of Perambur and Kattalur (Kandalur), Namana s
said to have had several encounters with the Kumaravadi chief (owners of Viralimalai tract),
and, overcoming him, annexed Viralimalai to his dominion. :

In this way Namana seems to have become the ruler of more or less the whole of the
modern Kulattur Taluk. Namana Tondaiman, at this time, got the permission from the
“Nayak king to subdue Puchi Nayak of Marungapuri who had stopped the payment of annual
tribute. The Tondaiman, with the help cf his brother Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman
.of Pudukkottai, defeated him, and seized from him his capital Ammankurichchi and some
.other villages, which the Tondaimans were permitted to keep for themselves.

Namana Tondaiman was succeeded by his son Ramasami Tondaiman, who is known

10 have ruled till 1736 and.died in that year. Ramasami Tondaiman, like bis father, called

~himself after the Nayak ruler at thetime Vijaya Ranga Chokkanatha Ramasami Tondaiman.

He married Muttalakammal, one of the foster daughters of Mangamma] (Queen Regent
“of Tiruchirappalli) and received as her dowry five villages. oo

Ramasami Tondaiman seems to have been a peaceful ruler, not caring for wars
or extension of territory. The Servaikars of Andakkulam and Nanguppatiti seem to have
‘helped him greatly in keeping his Palgyant in order and peace. For the convenience
of the passengers to Rameswaram, he built two chattrams one at Kalamavur in 1728, for
the maintenance of which ths village of Pallattuppatti was set apart, and the other at Amma-
.ghattram in 1730 in the name of his wife Muttalakammal; for the upkeep of which several

villages were allotted.

 Ramasami Tondaiman was succeeded by bis son, Namana Tondaiman. Not
.much is known of this ruler. The fact seems to be that in his time, Pudukkottai had become
avery much mors powerful than Kulattur and oveishadowed it. Thus Kulattur was annexed
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to Pudukkottal and eceased to be separate state about 1750. * Tradition on the subject
simply says that the last ruler of Kulattur was sent to the Tirumayam Fortas a State prisoner,
Tn all probability, the 1uler thus dealt with was Nomdna Tondaiman, son of Ramassmi.
Tondaiman . _ , _.

Now let us look into formation and interesting places in Pudukkottai town.

Pudukkottai Town stands on sloping ground raising from the Vellar to a ridge north-
of the town. Its water supply comes from the notth, while the slope to the south facilitates.
. drainage. - A . e _
Originally the town was surrourded by thick jungles. “The approachesto the town:
. were through these jungles along three roads on the north, south, and west. On these roads:
" stood gatewys called Vadi at distances of three miles, two miles, and half a mile respecti-
vely from the town under the charge of a commander and a attachment. These outposts
are stili commemorated by the place names Machuvadi, Kummandan (commandant) Vadi,
and Puliva Vadi. The town is skirted on the west by a lite of low isolated rocks which
supply excellent granite. Though no river flows through the town, it is within four miles.
of the Vellar and two miles of the Kundar on the south. ,

The town and its environs have a history dating back to prehistoric days. The exten-
sive pre-historic burial sites on either side of the Tirukkattalai tract and the pre-historie
sites with pottery un-burials in the Sadaiyapparai pottal, west of Tirugokarnam indicate
shat there was a populous settlement in the vicinity and grown into important settlement
. of the Chettiyar, Karala Vellalar, Maiavars and Kallars. ,

‘The eastern portion was called Kalasamangalam,animportant settlement of the Chetti-
ars, and the western of the town as ‘.Smgamangalam, How thele two towns perished or
merged into the modern Pud_ukkottal town js not known; nor-is it clear when the Kottat
‘or fort after which it takes its name was built. The Tondaiman Vamsavali ascribes it to.
'Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman (16861730 A.D.) but the existence of the fort is denied
by Ramah Naik, the East India Company’s Agent at Tanjore, who writing on 16th June
1754 observed, * there is neither stone nor mud wall. ” However, the Statistical Account
of Pudukkotiai (1813) refers to a fort three 'nalifais or two and a quarter miles in circuit,
with streets, houses and shops inside. Probably the fortifications would have beent des-
troyed between 1732 and 1734 by Chanda Sahib or Ananda Row or by both duzing their
invasion of the town. The palace referred to was probably that which is repoited to have
stood at the northern and after its demolition a new palace was built at Sivagnanapuram
south-east of the town which then Raja used both as a palace and a hermitage, and where
it is sometimes supposed-that sage Sadasiva Brahmam came to initiate him into the higher
truths of Vedantism. :

The modern town which derives its name from a fort built round it in former years
 js now nearly 150 years old. The town originally consisted of irregular streets and narrow
Janes of old-mud built and leaf thatched houses. In 1812 it underwent a baptism of fire .
in which it was nearly destroyed, and a new town, thanks to the wisdom of Raja Vijaya
Raghunatha and Major Blackbuine, arose phoenix like, on its ashes,with broad streets.
in intersecting square—a plan which has been preseived to this day in the town and its
 extensions with the Raja’s palace in the centre. . ‘

The expansion of the town-since its rebuilding in 1812 has been study and continuous-
and received considerable impetus during the administration of Sti -Seshia Sastri
(1878-1894). During his time several suburbs like Puducheri weie brought into existence,.
the streets were relaid, tarks wete deepened and cleaned, and a programme of public build--

- ings was jnaugurated and lagely carried out. The town was constituted into a Municipality-
‘ ‘in 1912' (Flg' 1)‘ L BT ) .
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The places of worship, to a town of this size, are fairly numerous. The most impor=
tant Saivaite temples are those of Sri Gokarnesvara-Brihadambal at Tirugokarnam and
Santbanathaswami in the heart of the town. The principal testivals in the former are the
Dassara and those in Chitra (April-May) and Adi (July-August) and in the latter in Ani’
(June-July). .The Vaishnavite temples are of Varadharaja perumalin the eastern third
street, of Venkatesaperumal on the tanks of Aiyarkulam of Vitoba on the bank '.of
Pallavankulam, Other places of Hindu worship are the Ammankoyils dedicated to Ariana
_chiamman, Manomaniamman, Kamakshiamman, and recently constructed Bhuvaneswari
amman ; the altars of Thadikonda Aiyanar, Singamuthu Aiyanar and Porpanaiyan
‘the temples of Sundaresa and Sri Dakshinamurti (in the cld Palace), a Mariamman temple
on the confines of Tirugokarnam and Tiruvappur ; and Sri Venugopalaswami Kovilat

Tiruvappur itself. , | ‘

There are two churches in the town. The Protestant church (Fig. 2) is at the north end
of the town and belongs to the Sweadish mission. 1t was built in 1905 and consecreated
in 1906. The church of the Sacred Heart of Jesus and of the Irhmaculate Heart of Mary,
(Fig. 3) an elegant and spacious edifice, east of Marthandapuram is the principal church
of the Pudukkottai Catholic parist. The foundation stone was laid in January 1908, the
nave was completed in April 1911 and became the parish church in 1922 :

There are two mosques, one in the town (Fig. 4) and the other at Tiruvappur. The
town mosque is about a hundred and fifty years old, and is ascribed to one Mandra, who
is alsc credited with having built some mandapas at Pallivasal in the Tirumayam taluk.

The Darga of Hazrat Shah parhezi Auliya is held in high veneration by the Muslims
of the town. Parhezi Auliya a prince or chieftain of Yemen in Arabia, renounced the
world and wandered about the countries of south-west Asia and India and at last settled
in Pudukkottai in the first half of the 18th century. Many miracles were attributed to him,
His sanctity attracted the noticeés of the Tondaiman ruler of Pudukkottai who held him in
high esteem and had a tomb raised in his honour after his death. It is believed that his,
nephew and disciple also lies buried by the side of the Auliya. :

There are many notable. buildings and places of interest. The old palace (Fig. 5)
ig in the centre of the town inside a fort with thick and high ramparts. The old palace is-
now not used as a place of residence by the family of the Raja, and is being occupied by
some government departments and private firms.  This contains the shrine of Sri Dakshina-.
murti and the old Durbar hall. The new palace (Fig. 6) which was designed and built by
one late Mr.Nilakanta Sastriar,a Special Engineer for the palace constructions, has a hang--
some appearance, with its well-dressed stone walls and Moorish cupclas. It was surrounded
by alarge park, with lawns and gardens, and there wete tennis, cricket and foot-ball grounds,.
and a riding course. The building was first occupied in 1930. _

The Public Offices building (Fig. 7) at the southern side of the Pudukkottai bus stand:
is a handsome two storied building constructed in the form of a hollow square (313 feet.
by 305 feet) with eight staircases, two of which lie inside towers rising 102 feet high. Herein,
ate located the Sub-Collector’s office, Court, the Sub-treasury, the State Bank of India,
Government Branch Press, etc. In front of the Public Offices building stands a bronze
statue of the late Raja Sir Marthanda Bhairava Tondaiman Bahadur,

The Raja’s College is another important building with a Theatre hall, Libra1y, Labora-.
‘tory and an extensive sports ground with a pavilion. Besides, the Raja’s College is a B.Ed.
College (Fig. 8) with a newly constructed building. x

The Town General Hospital is.a specious building with extensive wards and o fox
theatre. It it equipped to meet the demands of modern hospital work, and has Pathl:)elﬁgl}gﬁ
a.r.':i1 cf;3ac£:ef1mcl>iloglca.l, Raleg}}o%cal al’ncIl_l Electro-theraphy, Ear, Nose and Throat, Dental
and Opthalmic sections. ¢ Renee’s Hospital, meant only for ladies, has ai
out-patient wards and lying in rooms. . d “airy and specious
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. other structurcs of note, may be mentioned the Barstor school, the Town Hall
-muilt by public subscriptions to commemorate the first audience that the late Raja Sir
: da Bhairava Tondaiman had with Queen Victoria at Windsor Castle on July 14th

1898 and the Victoria J ubilee Acch (Fig. 9) which is on the road to the Public Offices. Near
the Jubilee Arch is the Gandhi (once Holdsworth) park with a clock tower maintained
by the Municipality ard the Municipal rest house called Satyamurti rest house. . :

The Tamil Nadu Government Museum at Tlrugokarnam is an mtereatlng and edu-
. cative lnstltutlon It was started in 1910 by the Durbar of Pudukkottai. It is now func-
* ¢ioning as a multi-purpose museum with the following Seciions; Geolagy, Zoology, Botany,
- _Arts and Industries, Anthropology, Bihnology, Epigraphy, Numlsmatlcs Archaeology and
- Paintings. It has developed on modern lines largely in recent years and is worth visiting,
Ili:fi;sh (;)pen to the pubhc on all days of the week except Mondays and Government

: avs .

~Itisa surpnsmg matter to the visitor to note not less than 20 to 30 tanks to atown of
its size, and the terms Aiyarkulam, Pillaikulam, etc. show how they owe thier existence to the
charity of some Aiyars or Pillaiswno held hlgh positions formerly inthe land. Kummandan
kulam near the bus stand is Commandant kuiam and was excavated byCommandant Mzctho-
Nayakka. The largest of them is Pudukkulam {Fig 10) which lies at the -south-eastern.
end and .constitutes the source of water now supplied to the town through the pipes. The
workof repairing and renovating Pudukkulam was taken up in 1889. ¥t wasthen calculated
that by deepening and widening, it might hold 115 million galions of rain water collected on -
* g vwater-shed mostly under jungle, and therefore naturally free from the contamination of
man and beast and supply the town with wholesome water from vear'send to year's end’
-syithout fear of drought. The work of repairing the tank lasted off and on for seven years,
and when it reached completion in 189495 it proved large enough to render a scheme of
, Water-vmtks possible for thetown. Onits southern bank are situated the water-works where
-mwvater is filtered and pumped to the Machuvadiupland at the northern extremity from Which
. it re-enters the town by natural gravitation.

_The tank as it now stands as a pretty to see with its magnificent sheet of water
enclosed by high and neatly turfed banks wide enough at the top to be a promenade and a
drive, The father of all these improvements was Sir Seshia Sastri, who beautified the
town by his four-fold programme of town improvement, relating, to conservancy, tewn
gxtensmn, tank repair, and the erectior of pubhc edifices of architectural value.
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PORPANAIKOTTAL

Porpanaikottai lies at a distance of four miles from Pudukkottaiin the Alangudi route
and six and a half miles in the Tiruvarankulam route. It is about one and a half miles
to the north of Tiruvarankulam, and can be reached only by bi-cycle or by walk. But the
Alangudi route is suitable for all conveyances.

Porpanaikottaiis a place having a ruined fert round which a curiouslegend has gathered.
The place derivesits name, asthe word implies froma fortin whichaccordingtothe tradition
there once stood a palm tree bearing gold fruits, butin the present Kaliyuga ofsin and
degeneracy has changed into one of the mandapas in the fort.

It is probable that the correct name was derived from Ponparappinankottai. Pon- -
parappinaun was title assumed by Bana chiefs. The original significance of the name having
been lost, it was probably corrupted intc Ponpanai (ot porpanai) kottai, and the ignorant
folk readily associated it with the legend of the golden palmyzra tvee suvposed tc have stood
at Tiruvarankulam, a mi'e and a half tc the scuth.

The fort is said to have been built in the form of the bird ‘Garuda’ (Brahminy kite)
with its beak facing the east, and its wings outstretched north and south as in the Silpa
Sastra lends support to this view, because the garuda was an emblem assumed by later
Banas, The fort, therefore, may have been built in the 13th or 14th century, and, according
to the Statistical Account of Pudukkottai (1813), the fort has fallen into decay by the first
quarter of the 16th century. But the vestiges as well as tradition still remain, from which
the following particulars are given.

The fort is truly a remarkable structure made out of square bricks and chunam plaster.
The bricks used in the construction are about an English foot in length and breadthand four
inches thick, being a marvel of strength, size, and durability. The circumference of its
circumvallation is one mile and one furlong and the area occupied by the ramparts is 4 acres
and that included within the fort is 43-87 acres. According to tradition the fort had 32
bastions, and moat which judged from the existing ditch-50 feet by 12 feet—which now
lies to the north of the fort, must have been of formidable dimensions. It has had several
gates the different names of which are still recognisable. Outside the fort is a pit called
Surangapallam or the hollow of the secret way, said to communicate underground with
Vallam near Tanjore. Inside the fort are traces of a building believed to have been the
palace of a chief, and a half-filled pond, by name Niravi, supposed to have been used as a
Teppakkulam. There are shrines on the four sides of the fort dedicated to Munisvara
and Karuppar. The two temples of Munisvara claimed to be the original alters of the
godling Munisvara who guarded the Gold palmyra tree are in the Eastern gateway and
Western gateway. But of these two, the temple to the west is obviously the later building
and must have been built not more than 100 years ago. This Munisvara (Fig. 11) is
regarded as the pristine -tutelary deity of Pudukkottai town and palace, whose, oftam or
way across the town is stil] traced by knowing elders. To obstruct it by building or
otherwise is considered to be highly inauspicious. The Munisvara in the Eastein gateway
is made out of lime and mortar and is completely resembling in size the Western one.
There are also shrinesto this Munisvara in Pudukkottai town and within the Siva temple at
Tiruvarankulam,
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GOKARNESVARA TEMPLE IN
TIRUGOKARNAM,

' TIRUGOKARNAM is a suburb of Pudukkottai town and liesat a distance of two
miles in Pudukkottai-Tiruchirappalli bus route. Here is the famous rock-cut temple of
God Gokarnesa and a shrine of Goddess Brihadambal.

We learn from inscriptions that Tirugokarnam was one among the three devadanams
that existed in Pudukkottai. As a devadanam, Tirugokarnam dates back to the seventh

century if not earlier.

The rock-cut shrine of Gokarnesa belongs to the ‘Mahendravarman epoch’ (600-630
A.D.), and consists of a cubical cell with a rectangular veranda in front resembling the cave-
_ temple at Sittannavasal and Kudimiyanmalai. The central shrine contains a /inga in the

centre which is massive and cylindrical.  The veranda is supported by four piflars—two
of them at either end being contiguous with the rockitself. The pillars, here, unlike
those at ' Kudidhiyanmalai are cubical at the extremities and octagonal in the centre, Above
the pillars are corbels supporting the Architrave. The face of the bracket is curved and
bears the usual Pallava rolt ornaments. There are no dvarapalakas here; but the figures
of the huge Ganesa on the south wall of the veranda and of Gangadharamurti (Fig. 12)
on the notth wall are typical Pallava sculptures.- They are carved in bas-relief.

A steep portion of the rock was selected at Kudimiyanmalai and Sittannavasal to
excavate the ardhamandapa and garbhagriha, but at Gokarnam rather a slope has been taken
" and a distance of more than five feet in the slope had to be chiselled off before reaching a
sufficient height in the rock to form the pillars with their capitals, etc, On the rock face
to the south-east of the rock-cut cell are in bas-relief the figures of the Saptamathrikas
(Fig. 13) with Ganesa and another God who may be identified as Virabhadra or Muni on
. either side. The mahamandapa and the other mandapas built of cut stones in front

of _ the central rock-cut shrine belong to the Chola and Pandya periods.

The shrine of Sri Brihadambal seems to be a very late structure, probably renovated
within the last two centuries. The absence of any inscription on its walls bears out this
conclusion. The Goddese is the tutelary deity of the Tondaiman rulers who consequently
styled themselves “Sri Brahadambadas® or the servants of Sri Brihadambal. In this temple
they are instailed and it is in the name of this Goddess that the Pudukkottai State coin called
the Amman cash was struck. The large mandapa in front of the Amman shrine, and the
corridor (Fig. 14) leading into the temple from the street belong to the ‘Madurai’ style. The
pillars in the large mdndapa contain beautiful figures of Rati-Manmata, Ravana, (Vig. 15),
etc. On the pillars of this mandapa are figures in high relief of chiefs and nobles who have
not yet been satisfactorily identified. Within the temple are shrines to Bakulavanesvara,
~ in the form of a linga, Sri Mangalambika and Dakshinamurti. On top of the rock-cut

ghrine are those of Subrahmanya, Durga, Lakshmi, Sarasvati, Bhairava, Jvaraharesvara
(Fig. 16) or the ‘Destroyer of fever’. Atthe base of a Bakula (Mimusops elengi) tree within
the temple is a small image of Sri Sadasiva Brahmendra.

The principal festivals in this temple are the Dassara, and those in Chitra (April-May)
and Adi (July-August). 7

: The Sthalapurana of the temple has a well-known legend relating to the God and to
the tarn on to the rock, celebrated in local ballads, and dance-songs. The cow of the story
was Kamadenu, the giver of all objects of desire like the fabulous horn of plenty, who
happening to arrive late one day at Indras Court was banished from the celestial spaces and
condemued to live the life of an ordinary cow onearthuntilsuch time as she might
take to expiate her sins by worshipping God Gokarnesa. On coming below, she sought
he hermitage of sage Kapila situated in the Bakula flower jungle at this place, and under
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his guidance performed daily worshipto theidol o. Gokarnesa under the bakula tree; and
hard penance did she do for her sins, for every day she tramped to far away Ganges, and
brought its sacred water in her ears for the God’s ablution (hence the God is called Gokar=
nesa or the Lord of the cow’s ear). In due course she became a dam, but stifling motherly
instincts she still performed her daily journey leaving her tender calf to whine and bellow
at the temple gate. But soon came the time for her salvation, and as she returned one day as
nightfall with the sacred water in her ear, God Gokarnesa taking the shape of a tiger stood
across her path at a place since called Tiruvengaivasal (the tiger’s gate) and demanded from
her tiger’s food. On remonstrating that it was time for the ablution of the God, she was
{et go but on condition she returned immediately after the worship was over. When the
cow came back according to her promise, the seeming tiger changed its shape, and Siva and
his consort Parvati, manifested themselves on their bull vahana, and carried the cow to
heaven, According to a variation in the story the tarn in the hill behind was cut by the cow
with its horn and stored with the Ganges water from its ear, and a cleft on the top of the
linga is the hoof-print left by her as she bathed the idol in the sacred water.

There are many recorded inscriptions in this temple in Pallava-Grantha and Old Tamil
characters.  Onthe south wall of the rock-cut shrine is a fragment of inscription of a single
Sanskrit line inscribed in Pallava-Grantha characters which reads, ‘Stapanacharya-Bha-
vatacharya’ meaning ‘Bhagavatacharya who was religious teacher and founder’, On the
same south wall of the shrine is an inscription in Old Tamil character, dated in the ifth year
of the Pandya King Maranjadaiyan (781-82 A.D.), which records a gift of fifteen Kalanju
{a customary gold weight) of gold which was collected by begging, for maintaining an
everburning lamp (nanda-vilakku) to the Madevar (the Lord) in the temple at Gokarnam
in Tiruvetpur by Varagunavati Araiyan alias Nakkan cetti of Karkurichchi, (present
Tirukkattalai near Pudukkottai) a Kavippal (Kavir district) of Valla-nadu. This god
was placed under the protection of the nattar-the local administrative body of the Nadu
- ‘or district. It is important to note that a nanda-vilakku is stifl being maintained in this
temple.

The earliest Chola inscription in the temple belongs to the reign of Rajakesari-
varman. On the south face of the third pillar (from the right) in front of the rock-cut
central shrine is a Tamil inscription of Chola period belonging to the 9th year of the King
Rajarajakesarivarman (Rajaraja I) (992-3) which records a gift of land forthe upkeep of the
tank called Kavirkkulam at Tiruvetpur in Tenkavirnadu by a Brahmin of Merkillimanga-
lam, a Brahmadeya of Tenkarai Tiruvalundur-nadu of Sonadu (Chola Country),

An inscriptionin Tamil belonging to the reign of Raja Raja IIT (1236 A.D.) is on the
rock to the left of the steps leading to the spring. Itis slightly defaced. It records a gift
of land for providing offerings and an everburning lamp to Tirukogarnam-Udaiya Naya-
nar, for the merit of the sons of Somaladeviyar, mother of Somisvaradeva, son of Hoysala
Vira Narasingadeva of Dvarasamudram. This marks the close connection between the
later Cholas and Hoysalas. The famous Vijayanagar Emperor Krishna Deva Raya in his
Triumphal march about 1518-19 in the South visited Tirugokarnam, and worshipped
Gokarnesa and Brihadambal, to whom he presented many valuable jewels.

~
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SUNDARESVARA TEMPLE IN TIRUKKATTALAL

Tirukkattalai is a small village nearly four miles to the east of the town of Pudukkottai.

Tirukkattalai is the corrupt form Tirukarrali—the sacred stone temple. The village is
‘mentioned in its early inscriptions as Karkurichchi Tirukarrali. This sacred stone templg is
8 Siva temple, and the main deity of the temple, now called Sundaresvara, is referred to in
early inscriptions as Karkurichchi Karralipperuman adigal or the Lord of the stone temple
of Karkurichehi. The present name of Tirukkattalai can be traced in a Vijayanagar inscrip-
tion of the 15th century in which the main deity is called Tirukkattalai Isvara mudaiyar.
Sundaresvara temple is the only temple in Pudukkottai area which has all the characte-
ristic features of the architectural style of the early Chola pericd in its pristine glory, un-
fmpaired.

. The temple faces the east and a tank is seen in front of it outside the wall of enclosure.
The temple is now approached both from the cast gateway and the south gateway. The
Jatter was newly made by a opening in the southern wall of enclosure.

The Sundaresvara temple (Fig. 17) is a structural temple from the basement to the
finial. It consists of a garbhagriha, an ardhamandapa attached to it in front, the seven sub-
. ghrines of Parivara-devas and the boundary wal] round them and they seem to be the only
structures that were originally constructed. All the other structures, the mukhamandapa
attached to the ardhamandapa and the shrine for the Goddess standing to the north of the .
central shrine appear to have been subsequentlv added. This is clear when the structura}
style of the mukhamandapa and the shrine of the Goddess in one hand and the garbhagriha
and ardhamandapa in the other being compared. Moreover the latest king mentioned in
Inscription of the main shrine is the Chola King Kulcttunga I (A.D. 1070-1118) and the
earliest inscription in the mukhamandapa is the Chola King Kulottunga I1I (A.D. 1178-1216).
From this it is inferred beyond doubt that the shrine of Goddess and the mukhamandapa
should have been constructed during the interval of nearly a century.

_ The vimana over the central shrine is two storeyed structure. The vimana is square.
Below the stupi and simhalalatas and in the tier below are two rows of niches, one above the
other; those on the south contain seated figures of Dakshinamurti and of Bhikshatanamurti,
those on the west figures of Varaha and Vishnu and those on the north two figures of Brahma.
The corbels are fluted, and over them is a line of rampant yafis, The figure in the southern
niche of the outer wall of the garbhagriha is pecilliar. Usually, in all Siva temples of South
India, this niche is occupied by Dakshinamurti. But here is figure helding a bow and ariow
instead of usual vina which makes us to identify as Tripurantakamurti. However this is an
interesting feature and an uncommon feature to note in Siva temples. The niche in the
western wall contains a figure of Lingodbhava and that on the northern wall a figure of

Brahma.

The ardhamandapa connects the garbhagriha and the mukhamandapa in front of it. There
are two standing Dvarapalagkas on either side of the outer entrance of the ardhamandapa.
Both of them are standing with two arms and they face east. Both have jatamakutas, and
yajnopavitd in the form of rolled cloth and wear large patrokundalas in their ears. The
right hand of the figure on the southern side has the rarjani pose and its left hand rests on the
hip. The face of the northen figure is slightv mutilated.  1ts trunk is turned towards the
entrance. Its right hand rests on the hip ; the left one in vismaya pose. The two figures --
measures 5 feet 6inches in height each exclusive of the basement.

All round the main shrine and close to the walls of the enclosure are the sub-shrines
for the parivaradevatas— Surya, Saptamatrikas, Ganesa, Subrabmanya, Jyesthadevi, Chan-
fna (Fig. 18) and Chandikesvara. The shrine of the Saptamatrikas (Fig. 19)is rectangular
d shape and has a wagon-type roof. Among these deities the figure of Surya (Fig. 20) is
peculiar. Of its two arms the left hand rests on the hip and the right in abhaya pose. The
usual lotus bud is not shown in the hands as in other Surya figures. The existence of seven
parivaradevatas instead of eight in their respective sub-shrines is a feature peculiar to early
Chola temple.
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There are twelve inscriptions relating to this temple, of which one is mutilated, eight are
Chola, one Pandya, and two Vijayanagar. Inscriptions of the fifteenth century dated in
the reigns of Vijayanagar Emperors show that the village was under the immediate rule of
the Pallavarayars of Vaittur—Perungalur. Srirangan Pallavarayar and Vilitturangum
Pallavarayar are among the donors to the temple. Karkurichchi was then an importang

LPadaipparru or military station.
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' ARANKULANATHA TEMPLE IN THIRUVARANKULAM

Thiruvarankulam is five miles from Pudukkottai, and lies on the Alangudi road. it
‘18 noted for its fine ancient temple to Haratirthesvara (Arankulanathar). Arankulanatha
- i8 in the form of a linga‘which is Svayambuva.

The temple of Sri Haratirthesvara and Amman S1i Bribadamba is not only ancient but
also imposing in Pudukkottai area and held in high veneration by devotees far and near. (t
has been the object of worship and benefaction of rulers and citizens from zarly times, and
the inscriptions in the temple are the authority for the statement. The garbhagriha of Sri
. Haratirthesvara (Arankulanathar) may be assigned to the beginaing of the late Chola period.
The pilasters above the plinth have simple idals without petals, the palagais are large, the
corbels (podigai) are tenon shaped and bevelled. On top of each palagai are two yalis
standing on their hind legs as if supporting the a1chitrave above. Above the pilasters is a
line of bhutaganas supporting a convex moulded cornice. The kudus in the cornice are
formed of foliage scroils with human head figures within. There are niches in the walls.
The niche on the south has a finelv carved figure named Vinadhara Dakshinamurti (Fig. 21).
But the figure isnot holding the usual Vina in the hands. The figure 18 more or less in the
same type as found in Sundaresvara temple at Tirukkattalai.  The figure is in the standing
" pose, and the left arm holds a bow. it seems like a Tripurantakamurti. However, the
kudu above the niche contains a figure of Yogadakshinamurti. If the figure in the southern
* niche is taken as Dakshinamurti, the pose of Dakshinamurti is unusual and attractive
and draws the attention of the archagologists.  The niche on the west contains Lingodbhava
and that on the north one Brahma., The western miche is surmounted by the figure of
Subrabmanya with Valli and Devasena, and the northern niche with a bbutagana.

The garbhagriha, ardhamandapa and mahamandapa are of the same style.  The
earliest inscripsion in the central shrine is dated in the 40th year of Kulottunga Chola IH
corresponding to A.D. 1218-19. The garbhagriha and the two mandapas in front are
surrounded by a hundred pillared mandapa which was according to the Statistical Account
of Pudukkottai (1813) erected by one Gopulingam a Chola minister(?). Alosg the walls
of the southern cloister are the figures of the 63 Saivaite saints. In this hundred pillared
.mandapa are sub-shrines of Ganesa, Lakshmi, Subrahmanya, Bhairava, Surya, etc.. In
the front part of the hundred pillared mandapa are the processional idols which are con-
sidered to be fine spscimens of late Chola or early Pandya bronzes. From this mandapa
onehasto passthroughthe second gopura  eretced by a Gangaiyaraya chief. This gopura
is-in the Pandya style with polygonal pilasters, idals with petals spread out, thin palagais
.and corbels with pushpapodigai. There is a long corridor between the second gopura and
‘the first or the main gopura.  Th: :oof of the corridor is supported by massive monolithic
_-pillars (aniyortikal) with carved lioiis on top.  These pillars are elaborately sculptured with
figures of donors—Valanad Chettivars, local chieftains, etc.  Among the many names found
in the inscriptiions of donors contributing to the lighting, festivals, etc., of the temple that
«of ong Arsagandaraman (alias Samantznar Semappillaiyar) persistently recurs. His birth-
day asterism is said to be Satabhishaj in the month of Purattasi. He builtthe old kitchen,
.and the Vinayaka shrine ; brougat a flower garden, instituted services and festivals, and
provided everburning lamps, torches, etc., for his merit and in his name. One of these,
figures sculptured on the southern wallis that of Kattudaiyan Chettiyar who is believed to

have built this aniyottikal mandapa, This is also called Nakshatra (star) mandapa in
which the signs of the zodiac are sculptured in the middle part of the ceiling. To the north
_of thé mandapa are the sabhamandapa or the * Hall of Dance **.-

A separate enclosure for the Amman shrine which is much simpler than that of the God,
‘The architectural features of the Amman shrine mark the transition from the Chola to the
Pandyan epoch. The yalis and the bhutaganas found in the central shrine are absent here.
‘The Amman shrine or the hall where the Goddess is installed, as per the earliest, inscription
found in this shrine which datestothe 39th year of Kulottunga ITI(1217-18) Was construtted
by Kannudayapzrumal, queen of the Nisadaraia Chief of Piranmalai and daughter of the
- Nisadaraja chief of Piranmalai and daughter of the Nisadaraja chief of Ponnamarava.ti
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“The main gopuram (Fig. 22) may be assigned to a late period in the Pandya epoch, and has
sthe decorative pilaster motifs. There is an inscription on the wall of this gopuram in-
Telugu mentioning that a kumbhabhiseka' was performed by Raja Ramachandrg

Tondaiman Bahadur. .

There are 65 interesting inscriptions in this temple bslonging to the reigns of Kulottunga IIT,
:Sema Pillaiyar, the empeiors of the second Pandya dynasty, Vijayanagar emperors and
Nayak chiefs, Vijayalaya Tevars, the Tondaiman of Arantangi, the Pallavarayars of Vaittur
“Perungalur, and the Tondaiman rulers of Pudukkottai. The informations that are recorded
-in the inscriptions convey an idea of the affluence of the temple in the past—-its rich and
eostly jewels, festivals,cars used for the procession of deities, and landsand gardens endowed
-to meet the expenses of daily worship. How prospsrous the temple was is seenin Puduk-
kottai State Inscription 607, whichrecords that the residents of Vallanad unable to pay arrears
- of taxes for nine years amounting to 11,000 kasus mortgaged a jewel of the God, and with
the money thus raised paid the taxes, and in return conveyed lands to the temple. There are
8 inscriptions reveal the agreements reached in the temple by the rival parties and compacts
entered into by them not to engagein fighting in future. Aninscripsion dated A.D. 1218-19
says that the local assembly met within the temple. It has continued to meet there in the
succeeding centuries, and the caste “panchayats’ of the Kallars and of the Chettiyars of
"Vallanad continue to meet in the temple. A sixteenth century inscription (P.S.1.746) refers
“to a Saiva matham situatedin the south street then called Vallanadan perunderu.

Among the objects of interest in the southern cloister of the hundred pillared maendapa
is a slab (Fig 23) with the figures of a raider on horse-back and his attendants, bearing
~the inscription which can be translated as—‘ Hail ! Prospzrity !. Vijaya Raya Mindar, also
.called Kandiyadevar of Rajendram, the servant of Vira-Pratapan’. It is not clear to whose
servant he proclaims himselfto be. Vira Pratapa is one of the titles assumed by the Vijaya-
nagar chiefs of Penukonda, and the title being such a common one, it is quite possible that
some of Nayak or Tamil chiefs assumed it. The idol of Ganesa in the western entrance
‘to the temple is supposed to be directly in the path and effulgence = Porpanaikotiai Muni,

To the north of the shrine, about a furlong and opposite to the Union Office, are three
-shrines for Kali, Karuppar and Thaiyal Ammai. The small temnle of Thaiyal Ammai -
.contains a male and a female figure made out of stucco. The male figure is small and is
sitting on the lap of the female figure. But the local version is that is the baby
of Thaiyal Amthai. The story is that a Paraiya disguishing himself as a Sudra was appoin-
-ted Peishkar (manager) of the temple, that bzing detected he was killed, that a concubine
of his, belonging to the dancing-girls’ caste, out of geief at his death committed suicide,
.and both were deified after death. They are now worshipped as Pattavans by the Melakars
- (pipers) of the place.

The following account of the legendry origin of the temple is taken from an old Tamil
“prose manuscript. . _

A Rishi (sage) who was doing panance in these forests happzned to restore one day
-to a vedan (hunter) his wife whom he had lost in the woods ; and out of gratitude, the
hunter brought him every day some tubars and fruits to eat. The hunter was in his turn
amply rewarded for his service, for a palm tree sprang up m'raculously in the jungle, and
dropped a fruit of pure gold every day at the hunter’s fest, as he brought food to the hermit.
“But unaware of the nature of the godsend he picted with it all to a Chetti at Kanappattai
near Valnad for some rice, salt, chillies, and tobacco. 8o a dozen years passed, and the
-Chetti had amassed no less than 4,420 of these gold fruits. T

At this time the Chola King-Karikala who held sway over these parts had builta fort
-near Tiruvarankulam in fear of an amazon Queen Tatakai who ruled over these jungles.
~Qur hunter discovering his stupidity . eid?g[dem inded additional payment of the Chetsi
and being refused was seen by the Chola g to pass i tears along the streets of his town.
-Soon an inquiry was made and the miraculous fruits were examined and found to be pure
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sgold. The herm.ltage of the sage was sought but both he and the palm tree had vamshed:
and in their place stood a linga. It also happened that a shepherd who carried milk.
for the King’s use from Kadayakkudi stumbled every day at this hallowed spot, and broke:
.- his milk pot over the linga, thus unconsiously bringing about the daily ablution of the-
" idol with cow’s milk. When the shepherd one day examined the spot of his daily mishap-
‘with pick-axe and spade, he inadvertently cut the linga on the head and the cut may be.
identified to this day ontheidol-and was horrified to find blood issue from the fissure. Now
- it was clear to the King that temple wds necessary to the God, and he was glad to learn
that the Chetti of the golden fruits was himself willing to blll]d one at his expense in six.
"months. . After completing the temiple in this manner and prov:dmg it with a car and some:
jeWels 3,000 of the gold frults were still left and they locked up in the temple cellars.

According to the same Tamil authority, the image of th:s temple God was cnce attac- -
ked wher taken round in procession, by the Maravars who had assembled at Suraikkudi,
and honours weie bestowed on those who defeated the impious foes. The said authority
also accounts for the present connection of Paraiyans with the temple. It would appear
that the temple car once struck fast, and the axle-tree broke as often as an attempt  was.

- made to drag it. Thereupon the God appeared in a vision and apprised the devotees that
. the car could be moved only when a Paraiyan riding on a white elephant broke the cocoanut -
offering, and touched the car ropes.

According to another account also current in the place Kamashapadaga Maharajah,
son or descendant of Karikala Chola is divinely directed to this lccality that be may be-
- blessed with a son for whom he had prayed. He builds a fort and capital at Porpanai~
- kottai near it (See under Porpanaikottai), and in the course of his exploration of the country

in search of the /inga discovers it under a golden palm with the heip of the shepherd of
the story. The Chetti who is in possession of the fruits is a native of Kalasapuram, and
_ is made to disgorge his plunder under kingly pressure ; the king himself being the builder
‘of the temple. The palm has also, in this account, a legend of its own. It was originally-
Siva’s umbrella bearer, Pushpagandan by name, who, for dereliction of duty was condemned.
to a mundane life. He was directed to this spot on earth, as it had become consecreated.
_by the Haritirtha tank into which once fell the Ganges water that was shed from Siva’s -
" locks. He was also docmed to a fourfold life-that of a Vembu (nimbavana) in the first
Yuga (age), of Kattati (identified with a tree of this kind that now stands cn the bank of -
the Haritirtha tank within the temple) in the second Yuga, of a gold palm (pcrpanai)
. 'nthe third Yuga, of a stone mandapa in the present age. The mandapa now built over
theidolin the temple is believed to bé this deva. Whatever the puranic story, one fact stands -
out-which points to an original connection of the temple with the men of the Idayan (She-
pherd) and Chetti castes ; and this is strengthened by the circumstance that at present,
in the annual festivals the Idayans are called the bridegrcom’s (the Ge d’s) family, and the
- Chettis the bride’s (the Goddess’s) family, and this latter connection is further explained
by the story of the Chetti g:rl who mysteriously disappeared as she was worshipping in the
temple one day, and the voice of God was heard to say that He had taken her vnto Himrel.
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. KULATTUR TALUK
SIVA TEMPLE IN KALIYAPATTL

Kaliyapatti is a small village ten miles from Keeranur and 25 miles from Pudukkotiai,
:and is situated on the Pudukkottai Keeranur-Kilikkottai bus route.

On the foreshore of a so-calied Samadikulam near Kaliyapatti is a small but an interest-
ing Siva temple. It is one of the earliest stone temple built in the Chola penod
This is considered to be one of the best among the smgle-storeyed temples of Vijayalaya'’s

- age.

This Siva temple (Fig. 24) faces the east. Itisa compact structure containing intact

“the garbhagriha, the griva and the sikhara. The stupi and the ardhamandapa have dis-

-appeared. The entire structure is built of well dressed granite blocks from basement to
finial.

The central shrine (garbhagriha) is eight feet square, Its walls are one and » half foos
_in thick. They are adorned with pilasters, four on each side. Their brackets have an
. angular profile similar to those of the Vijayalaya Cholisvaram at Narttamalai and the
Siva temple at Tiruppur. There are no niches on the walls of the central shrine to house
the usual deities, The cotnice has, on each side, two kudus, well adorned with scroll-work.
Bach corner of the cornice ends with a beautiful scroll called kodikkarukku. A frieze of
_yalis runs above-this cornice. Higher up is a square griva with four niches one on each
- side adorned with kudus above. These and the four corners of the sikhara are ornamented
~ with scrolis of uncommon elegance and charm.

The sikharais four-sided and curvilinear resembling those of the Muvarkovilat Kodum
balur. Thereis a layer of ratrapitha,and aboveit a padmapitha. The stupi which adorned-
it is missing and its style should have been similar to that of the Muvarkovil.

Of the ardhamandapa, the moulded basement alone is found in continuation of the
plinth of the garbhagriha. The basement of tle nandimandapa and traces of the usual
. soven sub-shrines can be seen ; "also the basement of the front gateway and of the walls
-of enclosure enclosing the whole set of shrines.

The nandi figures lying on the floor should have once adorned the four corneis of the
.griva and the image of Dakshinamurti of the southern niche of the vimana also lies on the
_ground.

The temple which was badly out of plumb has now been repaired, the idols of Brahma,
"Vishnu and Dakshinamurti have been restored to their respective niches in the griva of
“the vimana, and two of three stone bulls discovered in the site have been placed at the
sorners of the top of the shrine and the third on a pedestal in front of the temple.

The inscription found in the southern wall of the garbhagriha is important. This
inscription is palacographically assigned to the 9th or early 10th century.- Thiru S. R. Balas
subrahmanyam has identified that the inscription is of the 18th year of Parakesarivarman,
-who is none other than Vijayalays Chola, and-fixed the date of the inscription as A.D. 868.

Q-1 257-7~5



R ) A - ‘
" MUVAR KOVIL
. IN
| o KODUMBALUR. _
© " Kodumbalur lies about 25 miles from the town of Pudukkottai, and is a famous place=

" of ancient renown in Tamil Nadu State, on the road to Kudimiyanmalai and Manaparai.- .
It is said in the Silappadikaram, and earliest Tamil epic of the golden age of Tamil literature,

" to have been situated in a strategic position of importance on the high road then in use
- between Uraiyur, the Chola capital, and Madurai, the capital of the Pandyas. The Tamil

work Periapuranam calls it the chief city of Konadu, Konattuk-kodinagaram. It was for-
merly 2 flourishing capital city ruled by a dynasty of Velirs called Irukkuvels, who were
- gonnected by blood with the Cholas but politically were subordinate to them. Idangalina-
'yanar, who is reversed as one of the 63 Saivaite saints and mentioned in the Tiruthandakans-
by Sundaramurti was a King of this Velir dynasty. He was the patron of the Saivas, and.
" an ancestor of the Chola King Vijayalaya, the founder of the Imperial Chola line, and his-
son Aditya were connected withthisdynasty. ~Another prince ofthe line was Bhuti Vikrama .
Kesarin who built the Muvarkovil, _ ’ _ :

Kodumbalur has taken different names at different times such as Irukkavelur (the-
town _of the Irukkuvels), and Mangammal Samudram in recent times, when it was givens
away as an inam by Queen Mangammal to Dalavoy Lakshmi Narasayya on the birth day-

_of Vijaya Ranga Chokkanatha. Howeverits present name K odumbalur isits oldest denomina- -
tion which has persisted through the centuries. _ '

Kodumbalur is mentioned as the scene of an engagement in the 8th century in.
- which the Pandya King Maravarman Rajasimha (c. 740-765 A.D.), defeated the Pallava

. King Nandivarman Pallavamalla.  The Sendalai records which are full of the exploits of ™
" Perumbidugu Suvaran Maran-Muttaraiya chief and a contemporary and ally of Pallava-
malla~identify him with Satrubayankara, and attributes a victory at Kodumbai (Kodumbalur):
as having defeated the Pandyas and Cheras. Satrubayankara means. ““the terror of
enemies ”, and is almost synonymous with Satrukesari meaning “‘a lion to his enemies”. The-
Sanskrit inscription (No. 14 in the Pudukottai State Inscriptions-1929) in Grantha charac-
‘ters. in the Muvarkovil gives the genealogy of the Irukkuvels froma King whose name is-
unfortunately illegible to Bhuti Vikramakesari, perhaps the greatest of them all. He was-
a contemporary of Madurantaka Sundara Chola Parantaka II and Aditya II.

- The Trukkuvels as the staunch allies and vassals of the Cholas, helped them in all their
battles. The Sinnamanur plates of the sixteenth year (c. 916 A.D.) of the Pandya Rajasimha IT”
give an embellished account of a surprise victorv that he won over the Velir forces at
Kodumbalur in a war which ended, however, in the triumph of the Chola Parantaka T and

“his Velirally. During the Pandya wars in the reign of Sundara Chola Parantaka II, one of
the commanders of the Chola forces was prince Parantakan Sirlya Velir of Kodumbalur.-
In the reign of . Raja Raja the Great, another Kodumabalur chief marched on an expedi--
tion to the north, evidently to Nolambapadi and Gangapadi, now parts of Karnataka State.--

~ We do not hear much of the Irukkuvels aftes the reign of Rasendra I, and nothing remains:

-now of the past glory of Kodumbalur except the Muvarkoviland Muchukundesvara temples..-

. 'There is a Kannada inscription on three stones built into the bund of the holy tank in:
front of the Muchukundesvara temple. It mentions Vikramakesari-griham, which name:

must refer to the Muvarkovil. _

On the south wallof the central shrine of Muvarkovilis a Sanskrit inscriptionin Grantha-
character which gives the genealogy of nine generations of the rukkuvel chiefs of Kodums-
belur. The date of inscription has to be assigred to 10th century A.D. The inscriptionr -
is mutilated both at the beginning and the end. The extant portion consists of 24 lines-
comprising eleven full stanzas in Sanskrit in various metres, and fragments of two others,-
oue at the opening and the another at the end. The inscription occupies a wall space 4'10°*

1
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in height and a pilaster in the wall, bears no letters, divides each line into 1wo parts of the
~length of 2’ 8" to the left of it and about 1’ §' to the right. The size of the letters is well
over an inch, the ligatures sometimes even reaching two inches. The inscription ends with
the name of a chief called Bhuti Vikramakesarin and tells that he had two wives named
Karralippirattiyar and Varaguna, and had by his first wife two sons called Parantakavarman -
and Adityavarman. '

The Muvarkovil was built by this Bhuti Vikramakesarin (a feudatory of Sundara
Chola) at Kodumbalur and has nothing to do with the three kings of the South asis
generally supposed or with the three Saiva saints Appar, Sambandar and Sundarar. An
inscription at Kodumbalur teils us explicitly that the three shrines were actually built by
the chief Vikramakesarin in his own name and in the names of his tWo wives. ' Having
built three shrines {vimanas) in his own name and in the names of his two wives, he set up
Mahesvara (Siva) and presented to a big mathg (brihan-matham) to Mallikarjuna of
Madurai who was the chief ascetic of the Kalamukha (sect) with eleven villages for feed-
ing fifty ascetics of the Kalamukha sect.[The Kalamukha sectis a division of Saivism. The

, Kalamukhas appear to be so called because they marked their forehead with a black streak,
and theyare said to be born of nara (human) and rakshasa (demonical) parents. The Kalamu-
‘khas teach that the means of obtaining all desired results in this world as well as the next are
constituted by certain practices such as using a skull as a drinking cup, smearing oneself
with ashes of the dead body, eating the flesh of such a body, carrying a heavy stick, setting
up a liquor-pot and using it as a platform for making offerings to the Gods, and the like.
A typical Kalamukha is wearing a bracelet made of Rudraksha-seeds on the arm, matted
hair on the head, a skull and smearing oneself'with ashes]. Mallikarjuna belonged to the
Atreya gotra and was the disciple of two teachers Vidyarasi and Taporasi.

. '

The Muvarkovil holds an honoured place in the evolution of both South Indian archi-
tecture and sculpture. Originally there Were three shrines side by side at the Muvarkovil
temple. Qut of these three, only two, the central and southern are now intact. Of the
third or the northern shrine, the basement alone remains. Each shrine was composed
of a garbhagriha and a closed ardhamandapa attached to its front. The three shrines stood
side by side in a line with the distance of 13 feet apart from one to another. Each shrine
is 21 feet square at the base with 32 feet high and the ardhamandapa measuring 18 feet
square. All of them facewest. There was a mahamandgpa 91 feet by 41 feet, common
to all-the three shrines, and a nrandimandapa the basement of which has now.been exposed

.to view. Infront of the nandimandapa is the base of what must have been either a dvajas-
tamba ot balipitha. Surrounding this group were 15 symmetrically arranged sub-
shrines, each having a garbhagriha and an ardhamandapa, the basements of fourteen
of which are now intact. Surrounding these sub-shrines was the tirumadil (boundary wall),
a massive stone Wall 3° X4’ in thickness with tWo openings, one undeiteaih a gcpwia and
another, near the north-eastern corner leading dcwn by a flight of stone steps toa cifcular

 stone ‘well 10 feet in diameter. It is very probable that there was a covered cloister all
_round the inside of the firumadil linking together the sub-shrines.

-Each of the existing two shrines is 32 feet high ficm grcund level. Tkey are built com-
pletely from basement to finial of well dressed gneirs blecks peatly erd accurately fitted.
Their walls are 5 feet in thickness. When vicwed ficm inside the shrire ctemkber, the roof
is seen to be composed of a number of courses of cut stones projecting one above the
other. :

-~

The opening on top is closed by a single rqof slab. According to the tradition and
reportt, the stones of the fort of this place were transported to Tituchirarralli for the buil-
ing of the Tiruchirappalli fort, and the materials of the Muvarkovil weie used for the con-
struction of the ‘fresh-water pord’ in fient of the Muchkukundeswara temple in this village,
of a calingula in Minavelli village, er.d of the Siva tem ple in Tiwechirzpralli. :
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. The plinth of each of the three central shrines tests ona lotus base. The kumudam
is curvilinear as in all early temples, and above it runs a frieze of vyalas with projecting
makhara heads, with human figures sporting inside their gaping mouths. At each of the corners
& makhara head juts outwith its snout coiled up and with a gandharva. Thewalls are decorat-
2£d with a series of tetragonal pilasters crowned with kumbam, kamalam and palagai succes=
sively. The palagai is large and massive, asin late Pallava and early Chola temples. The
<apitals are adorned with elegant scroll-work. The corbels are brackets with angular bevell-
ing, and sthe lower surfaces of the bracket-capitals is decorated with horizontal rows of
rol] ornament with a slightly raised band in the middle. But these rolls are not uniform
as the Pallava structures, One of them in each corbel curves inwardly.

The walls in the exterior side are provided with niches in the middle. Over the niches
inthe walls are curved in low relief  arched roranas springing from the mouths of a pair of
makharas, - Ontop of the walls and below the cornice runs a frieze of bhutaganas, a sort of
<herules playing on different kinds of musicalinstruments. Above the wallruns a cornice -
whichis as in the Pallava structures, thick and single arched and ornamented at close
intervals along its whole length with kugdus crowned with trifoliated, finials instead of the
ispade shaped finials, found in the Pallava structures. In addition to this, the cornicein all
.its corners and the kudus in it are carved with scroll work and its lower edge is also carved
throughout its length with a series of small semi-circles simulating lotus petals. Over
the cornice are the vyalavari with heads of makharas jutting out at the corners. . All these
features ocour invariably in structure of this type. :

~

Each of the two intact shrines (Fig. 25) is crowned by a vimana rising in three tiers but
diminishing in size. Each tier i§ being separated by a thick and single arched -cornice which
- is simllar to the tower most cornice in all its minor details. In the storey Just above the first
-gornice, a small structure called kuram is placed in each of the four corners with a four-
sided curvilinear roof and a small four-sided finial above it. In the middle of each corner
is the model of a building called salai with a wagon-shaped roof which reaches the second
cornice. There are pilasters on either side of the wagon-roofed tops. As regards the

. topmost tier of the vimanas, each ha$ a four-sided curvilinear roof which is ornamented on
its four sides with projecting kugdus filled with sculptured shrines in miniature in the middle
and crowned by simhalalatas. Tts corners are carved with elaborate scroll work and the
- whole length of its lower edge had incised a series of semicircles simulating lotus petals.
The neck (griva) below the ¢ roof ” is also four sided with a niche projecting in the middle of
each side. A row of bhutaganas runs round its edge close below theroof. In each of the
corners. of the topmost storey a seated bull is placed facing outwards. Thisis evidently to
ghow that the temple is dedicated to Siva. The roof portion terminates withtwo rectangular
glabs one above the other, the lower one called rarnapitha and the upper - one
Jkamalapitha; the latter is drawn out into petals, On the top a finial fits into a close fitting
g ockets in the centre of the kamalapitha. From what are left of the sub-shrines we ma
- jnfer that their architectural features were similar to those of the central shrines. ‘

There are no lingas inside these shrines but a complete linga and the fragments of_

. two othe rs have been found in the ¢xcavations conducted at that site. The niches on the walls
- and vim anas contain sculptures of great beauty. Sivais represented in these sculptures either
as a ~errific, destructive deity or a pacific, boon-conferer. They are Ardhanarisvara
{Fig. 26), Vinadhara-dakshinamurti (Fig. 27), Gajasamharamurti, Kalarimurti (Fig. 28),
Alinganamurti (Fig. 29), Gangadharamurti (Fig. 30) and Rishabhanugrahamurti (Fig. 31).
The sculpture of Kalarimurti is superb. It represents Siva in the act cf chastising the God
Yama for attempting to take away the life of Markandeya, hls_staunch devotee, in_his
gixteenth year, The figure of the God is fierce-looking. Yama is represented grovelling
on the ground with his face upturned towards Siva.  Siva’s left legis placed on Yama

. while the right one is raised. He has four arms, the upper right holding a parasu (axe)

while the lower one is raised and holds a pasq (noose¢). The upper left hand holds a black
buck, while the lower one points towatds Yama {Sucihasta pose)- The image of a lady
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at her toilet (Fig. 32), probably representing Mohini, is perhaps the finest of the unearthed

sculptures. Except for two in the Government Museum, Madras, and two in the Puduk-.

kottai Museum, allthc otherloose images of this temple are kept in the site as asite museum
representing a fine gallery of early Chola sculptures. In main, they resemble Pallava
sculptures in form, pose, and proportion of parts, but are more highly decorated, the deco-
ration b:ing simple though elegant.

The local traditicn that there were as many as 108 Siva temples at Kodumbalur is
supported by the fact that best [lingas, nandi and other sculptures have been unearthed
-wherever the soil was turned up by the plough. Further the architectural skill displayed
in the temple reins is another proof of its ancient greatness.

C1 25776
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MUCHUKUNDESYARA TEMPLE IN KODUMBALUR.‘

Muchukundesvara temple is another interesting temple not to miss to visitat
Kodumbalur. It is situated nearly a furlong from Muvarkovil towards north. It is also

a protected monument. -

Muchukundesvara (Mudukundram Udaiyar) temple is an early Chola shrine. The-
excavations round the basement of the central shrine have disclosed four inscriptions dated
in the reign of a Parakesari which mention clearly that the karrali or the stone temple of
Tirumudukundram Udaiyar, the ancient name of the /inga here was built by Mahimalaya
[rukkuvel also called Parantaka Vira Cholan or Kunjaramallan, who appointed priests
to conduct worship and endowed the temple with devadanan 1ands in Ollaiyurkurram and
- other places. Mahimalaya [rukkuvel was a contemporary of Parakesari Parantaka I and
his successor Rajakesari Gandaraditya, and he built this temple in the 14th year of the
reign of the Chola Emperor Parantaka 1,i.e., about A.D. 921. '

Muchukundesvara temple (Fig. 33) is built completely of well-dressed and close fitting
gneiss blocks. It faces east. Originally it seems to have been composed only  of gar-
bhagriha and an ardhamandapa attached to it in front. The closed mahamandapa, an
open pillared mandapa and Ammankovil standing in front of them have been added at
alater period. 1In Inscription No. 144 of the Pudukkottai list, the temple is stated to have
been renovated and the st(gne idols of Dakshinamurti,Vishnu, Brahma and two Dvara-
palakas are stated to have been installed evidently in the niches of the main walls of the
central shrine and in those on either side of the entrance of the ardhamandapa, in the 6th
regnal year of Kulottunga III, i.e., about 1183-84 A.D. The temple was built long before
Kulottunga III and all the idols mentioned above should have been placed in the several
niches at the time of the construction of the edifice but are lost through neglect. Hence -
new ones were installed at the time of the renewal of the structyre. None of these images
is found in its place now but the Dakshinamurii now found in a corner of the open mandapa
might probably be one of the images referred to in the inscription. '

The walls of the main shrine are adorned with four-cornered pilasters with kalasam,
padmam and palagai ontop. The corbels are decorated witha roll-moulding Wwith a median
band of the Pallava type. The arches above the figure niches are surmounted by makhara
toranas. The kudus have trifoliated finials. Above the cornices are friezes of bhutaganas
and vyalas, from.the corners of the latier of which muakhare heads jut out. The dome
shaped stone kutams resemble that of the Tirukkattalai temple is also found. ’

The whole shrine i§ enclosed by a boundary wall (prakara) within which four small
sub-shrines are seen standing close to the boundary wall and facing the main shrine, one
in each of the two corners inthe eastern side, one ip the north-western corner and the fourth
on the rear side of the main shrine .Images are placed in two of them, Subrahmanya in the
sub-shrine on the rear side, and Bhairava in the sub-shrine in the northe astern corngr of
tke main shrine. Noimagesare found in the two other sub-shrines nor is there any
gopura standing above any of the four sub-shrines. Originally there should have been
seven sub-shrines surrounding the temple, and an image should have been placed in each

of them. :

In the mahamandapa many images not connected with the shrine are placed of which
a Dhara linga (Fig. 34) (prismatic linga with sixteen faces) similar to the lingas of the
Pallava King Rajasimha’s time is prominent. There is also an image of Jyestha Devi
which would have been an image in one of the sub-shrines.

The temple seems to have been repaired in the 13th century when the mahamandapa
was built. There is an ancient circular stone well in the temple measuring 6’ 9* across,
said to have a tunnel 2’ 9" in width below, probably an inlet for water from the tankism

front of the temple, '
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An interesting specimen of a mandt is also found near the main road and the
path that lead to the Muchukundesvara temple. The large stone nandi, measuring 9’
from «he foreleg to the tail and 8’5" round the neck, is comparable for artisticskill and
_ majesty of appearance with the nandi in the Tanjore Brihadesvaraswami temple, but the
fatterislarger. Attemptsioremoveitto Pudukkottai proved futile, and itstands there
itself on a platform. ‘



'SIKHANATHA TEMPEE TN KUDIMIYANMALAL

K UDIMIYANMALAI is situated at @ distance of 12 miles to the west of _Pudu_kkbtiai,
- wvhich in turn 1s 233 miles from Madras towards south, and 33 miles from Tituchirappalli
. rowards east. It is connected by bus services from Pudukkottai and Tiruchirappalli.

Kudimiyanmalai is called in earlier inscriptions Tirunalakkundram, and in later ones

Sikhanallur.  * Tirupalakkundram® means ‘the sacred and presperous hill?, The Taril

- word nala which means prosperity, excellence, etl., was later Sanskritised and made tc

refer to a Puranic king Nala, and popular fancy associated the temple with his name.
* Sikha® is the Sanskrit wotd for Kudumi which means a * tuft of bair °.

The principal idel worshipped in the temple here is named * Sikhanatha * orthe ¢ Lord

with the tuft . This queer name is explained in a locallegend, according to which a temple

" priest once gave his sweet-heart the flowers intended for divine worship, and when the

ruler - of the place came for worship unexpectedly to the temple, offered him as prasadam

the flowers that the lady had worn. - The king discovered some loose hair among them,

. and questioned the piiest how it got there. To conceal his offence the priest asserted that

“the God himself had natural hair, at the same time praYing in his heart that he might not

be proved untruthful. His prayer was heard and Kudumi or tuft of hair miraculously

_ appeared onthe Jinga. A small protuberance on the idolis stillshown to the worshipper
as the kudumi that originally appeared to save the priest.

In the past the village extended all round the sacred hill Tirunalaklandram
(Kudlimiyanmalai) which is crowned by a temple to God Subrahmarya. By the side of
the path leading upto the top of the hillis a naturalcavern under overhanging ledges of
rock™ which bears signs of habitation in veryearlytimes. At foot of the rock and on its
eastern, side is the celebrated temple of - Sri  Sikhanatha and Akilandesvari—one of the
biggest in the state. : ' : :

Kudimiyanmalai is full of bistoricalassociations. There is a grant according to which
_ the place was once given away to the Maravars by the Karala Vellalars. The rock-cut
temple, and the irscription in Pallava Grantha whick are found here relate to the Pallava
period prior to the 10th century A.D. - There is 2n inscription of Kulottunga T dated 1106 -
A D. According to the Statistical Account cf Pudukkottai (1813) the seven-storeyed gopura
of the temple was the gift of a Pandya, and some of its mandapams were built by the
Pallavaiayars who ruled ard worshipped here. Ir 1615 Actyuta Pallevarayar, arasu
(ckieftain) of Valuthur and Mallappa Pallavarayar granted lands to Brahmins of this
" village.  Malla Pallavarayar, the son of the first of them gave presents subsequently
to a dancing-girl here. In 1681 Mallappa Nayaka Pallavarayar and Seventheluntha
. Pallavarayar were rulingin these paits, and were soop after succeeded by 'the Pudukkottai
. ‘Tondaimans who following on old customs were installed in this place till recent times,
Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman (1686—1730) built one of the mandapams of the cave temple,
and his minister Kuruntba Pillai another part of the shrine. In 1730 Raja Vijaya Raghu-
natha Tondaiman was crowned in this temple ; and in 1773 his military chiefs Lingappa
and Raghunatha Servaikar dug tanks for the public benefit. On the southern wall of the
Ammankoil is an inscription dated 1872 recording the kumbabisheka (consecreation)
~ceremony of the two shrines by His Late Raja Ramachandra Tondaiman.

The ancient historical and cultural objects of interest in the place are (i) a rock-cut
temple called Melaikkovil, (2) a rock-cut figure of Valempuri Vinayaka, (3)a rock-cut
musical treatise in Patlava-Grantha, (4) a rock-cut figures of the aruvarhi muyars or the
sixty-three South Indian Saints with Siva-Parvati on the bull, (5} the principal shrines of
Sikhanatha and Akilandesvari, (6) anivetru mandapa and the apirakkal mandapa,
an:hg'?) the wells, Tambikinaru (younger brother’s well) and Annankinaru (elder brother’s
w
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The rook-cut temple consists of a cave and an outer veranda scooped out of the hill,
The cave containsa cylindrical linga which is also cut, out of the rock. Itis reached bya .
flight of 12 steps of which nine lead up to the veranda, and the remaining three to the
altar. The four pillars on which the veranda rests are also hewn out of the rock, and
judged from the central two among them which are low, square and crude represent pri-
mitive architecture. The two Dvarapala (gate-keeper) figures cut in bas-relief on the
sides of the veranda are admirable specimens of sculptural work in stone. They stand
~7'—3" high, crowned in the head, and ornamented in the ear, neck and waist. As usually
found in the Pallava shrines of the 8th and earlier centuries, they possess only a couple
of hands; but the hands rest one on the hip, and the other on a club entwined by a hooded
snake. The piflars and sides of the veranda are covered with numerous inscriptions that
may be palaeographically assigned to the 10th century.

The Valampuri Vinayaka figure (Fig. 35) lies to the south of this temple. Itis cut
in base-relief on the vertical slope of the rock, nearly to the same height as the temple
itself. It may be assigned to the Pallava age.

‘Between the rock-cut shrine and the Valampuri Ganesa is the musical treatise in Paliava-
Grantha inscriptions remarkable in the first instance as a peace of calligraphy—so neat
and legible, - and uniform are the characters in the rock. The characters closely resem-
ble to those of the Mahendravarman’s inscriptions at Tiruchirappalli and the South Arcot
District, and-may therefore be assigned to the same period as the latter—early
Tth century A.D. The area covered by the inscription is 13" x14'.

According to the colophon it was composed by a king who calls himself the pupil
of Rudracharya though both the preceptor and the student are now unidentifiable.

About the contents of the Treatise, the writer in the Epigraphia Indica for January
1914 says as follows i— .

‘It is divided into seven sections corresponding to the seven classical ragas of the
time, viz.,, (1) Madhyamagrama, (2) Shadjagrama, (3) Shadva, (4) Sadharita, (5) Pan.
chama, (6) Kaisikamadhyama, and (7) Kaisika. Each section consists of a collection
of groups of four notes, arranged in sub-sections of sixteen, each sub-section taking up one -
line of the inscription. Of course only those notes are used,which are proper to the particu-
lar raga. Each group in a sub-section ends in the same note,. The note in which a particular
raga must bz ended is called the nyasa (final), That sub-section, which consists of groups
having the nyasa for their ending note is put the last in a section . The other sub-sections
are arranged according to the pasition of the ending note in the Hindu gamut sa, ri, ga,
ma, pa, dha, ni, ; a sub-section consisting of groups ending in sa preceding one of groups
ending in ri and so on. '

The importance of this inscription is that it is the only treatise on music now extant
bstwaen the earlier Natya sastra of Bharata (4th century A.D.) and Naradi siksi (date not
known), and the very much later one, Sarangadeva’s Sangitha Ratnakara (13th century).

Far above the rock-cut temple, but a little to the north of it, and also on a vertical
surface of the rock approached by a narrow and dangerous ledge are found the well-known
figures of the aruvathi muvars or the 63 South Indian Saints with an image in the contre
of Siva and Parvati riding on the sacred bull,

The temples of the God and the Goddess exhibit in their principal and innermost
part laudable specimens of stone carvings. In front of the Amman idol is # hexagonal
mandapa with a single flag stone of similar shape fixed in the floor on which the corenas=
tion ceremonies were conducted in former times. :
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The ayirakkal (thousand pillared) mandapa which is at the entrance is now in dis- .
repaxr In the portions continuous with the anivertu mandapa are found large images of
Monkey Gods locally idensified as Vali, Sugriva, and Hanuman, the Matsya, Kurma,
Varaha and Narasimha forms of Vishnu, Manmatha and Rati ndmg on parrots which in
their turn are carried by ¥alis and equestrian warriors, _

The Anivettu mandapa is in the second prakara or circuit of the temple of the God. -

On the ‘pillars are sculptured huge figures of Ganapati, Shanmugha (Fig. 36) Ravana with
“ten heads (Fig. 37) Ugra Narasimha (Fig. 38) in the act of tearing the entrails of Hiranya,
Rati and Manmatha riding on swans, Mohini enchanting sages who stand at her feet ravi-
shed, Vishnu on Garuda (Fig. 39), Urdhvatandava Siva (Fig. 40) and a gandharva,
On the frieze overhead are cutin bas-relief scenss of puranic and legendary sigaificance.

The two wells, Thambikkinaru (younger brother’s well) and Annankinaru (clder brother s
well) lie respactively to the south and north of the hill.  Of these former is the better known
and now supplies drinking water. The Annan wellis reported to be the gift of one Thalaiur
Nadalvar ; while the other bears as inscription which states that its 18 steps were construct-
ed in the name of one Udayappin by two chettiyars who came from Tzrachlrappaih inthe
time of Malla,ppa and Seventhelunbha Pallavarayar



KUNRUANDARKOVIL

: IN
KUNNANDAR KOVIL.

. Kunnandarkovil is at a distance of 17 miles from Pudukkottai and can be reach:d
via Puttambur and Andakkulam.

Kunnandarkovil (Kunru - Andar - Kovil = the temple of the Lord of the hill) referred
to in inscriptions as Tirukkunrakkudi has a rock-cut temple at the foot and a Subramaniya
temple on the top. The date of the rock-cut temple may be assigned to the time of Nandi-
varn an II Pallavamalla (c. 710—775 A.D.). In plan it is similar to the Gokarnesvara
temple at Tirugokarnam, It consists of an inner shrine (12'—6" x 10'—6" x 10’'—6")
. and a hall (21'—8" X 15—2" X 8'—9") with a doorway between the two {5—9° X

2'—8"), and hewn out pillars measuring 5'—10” in around. :

The chief objects of interest in the temple is the figure of big Ganesa (Fig. 41) (7’ high
and 4—11" across) with his trunk curled to the right which is on the rock-face to the south
of the cave, and to the north is a Somaskanda group (Fig. 42) in which Subrahmanyaz who
is generally placed between Siva and Uma, is placed to the left of Uma. In my orinion
the figure left to Uma does not séem to be Subrahmanya, but seems to be a female figure
with the right hand in raised position with a plate containing some fruits in it, and the left
hand in downward position. The headdress is in the spreading manner like jala-bhara.

" Hence it may be called Umamahesvara rather than Somaskanda. . The two dvarapalakas
(Fig. 43) are portrait sculptures. A fine figure to the south with royal personage (Fig. 44)
probably be the Pallava King himself or a Muttaraiya vassal of his. The other is that of
a nobleman probably the governor of the nadu, and his features exhibit humility and
reverence. From the coronet on the chief’s head projects what according to Mr. Long.
hurst are bulls’ horns. But another suggestion which is more probable is that the horns are
those of the crescent, and are intended to recall the fact that the Pallavas, as is mentioned
in the Nandikalambakam, claimed descend from the lunar race of Kings,

A number of persons whose names are enumerated in the inscriptions (P.S.I. 1097 to
1106) contributed to the erection of the mandapas in front called the Pottaraiyan and the
nritta mandapas. A fine hundred pillared mandapa (Figs. 45 and 46) now in ruinsis of
the Vijayanagar style, and is supposed to be fashioned as to resemble a chariot on four
wheels drawn by a pair of horses. The second gopura is probably a twelfth century
structure. Theimage of a Pattavan (standing figure) in the front mandapa inthe southern
side represents a man who lost his life while watching the temple property, and offering are
sometimes made to him. The temple has some fine bronzes.

The two oldest inscriptions in this temple belong to the reigns of Nandivarman and
Dantivarman. They refer to the feeding of Brahmins and other persons during the Arudra
festival days. There are other inscriptions belonging to the period of the Chola-Chalukyas,
later Pandyas and Vijayanagar Kings. Among the donors to this temple are a Tondaiman,
called Valarthu Valwitha Perumalana Tondaiman who lived in the reign of an unidentified
Kulasekara Pandya, Adaikkalangattar elso called Narasingadeva, chief of Perungalur,
and Avadai Nayanar or Pillai Pallavarayar, chief of Perungalur. One of the Pandyan ins-
criptions is a royal order instituting a daily service inthe temple called Rayarayan Sundara
Pandyan Sandhi.  Another relates te a sale of lands to Vyapaka Siva, a disciple of the
- spiritual head of the Naduvilmatham at Tiruvanaikovil (P.S. I. 446). Hereis a record which
relates to a covenant among ariyars in which they agreed not to cause any damage to the
villagers, and not to molest way farers and tenants whenever they were engaged in inter-
necine feuds. An undated inscription on the (unfinished) entrance gopura in modern
script relates to a toll of 1/16panam levied for the benefit of the temple on every package of
goods coming from or going to Tanjore and Tiruchirappalli. The above inscriptions
throw some light on the life of the past,
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Kunaandarkovil is one of the earliest Karala Vellplar-and Kallar settlement. It is
said that the northern part of the village bzlongs to the Kallars of the Vadamalai nadu,

‘and the southern to those of the Tenmalai nadu. The joint meetings of the panchayats -

of thz two nadus are held in the Kunnandarkovil temple.  An inscription in the temple,
dated about 1394 A.D. tells of a joint mzeting of assemblies, artisans and agriculturists to
which learned and iafluential men were invited from Srirangam and Tiruvanaikovil, to,
oonsn der the loss of life and property that the Kallars has caused, and to afford protection:
o the people who inturn were asked to make to the temple an annual paymﬁnt and an
oﬂ*rmg of a ring and money for every marriage celebration., ‘

.



SIVA AND VISHNU TEMPLE
IN
MALAYADIPATTI.

Malayadipatti is at a distance of 24 miles from Pudukkottai in the Kunnandar koil-.
‘Killukkottai route and also in the Keeranur-Killukkottai route. It is also called Tiruvalastar-
malai and is note worthy for a combined temple of Siva and Vishmu, cut out of a
single rock and situated within one common prakara or terraced walk infront. This Vishnu
temple in particular was held in high veneration, being considered another Tirupati.

The Siva temple is older among the two, aod is of the Mahendra style. The upper
and lower parts of the massive pillars are cubical, while the middle is octagonal. The front
half of the cave is hall of the rock-cut shrine running east to west, while the rear half has a
square cell, wherein is the linga with a sort of ardhamandapa in front, Wherein the
nandi is placed on a pedestal. On the walls of this grdhamandapa are panels with

figures in bas-relief including the Saptamatrika gro:gl, Ganesa,Virabhadra, Siva, Vishnu and

Mahishasuramardani (Fig. 47). The Durga ot Mahishasuramardani panel is of particular
interest; and the Goddess here asat Mamallapuram is represented with a benign
countenance, eight-armed, riding on her lion, and aiming a spear at the asura. The
dvarapalakas like all Pallava dvarapalalas, two armed. One of them bears a bull’s horn and
" a coronet (Fig 48). Evidently this figure represents a person of rank probably the chief
‘who built the shrine.

According to common report, the cave-temples in these parts, eighteen in nRumber
were dug out by onc Nandi Raja. But according to an inscription on a pillar of the mgha-
mandgpa of this rock-cut Siva temple, the Siva temple with a hall 22 feet 2 inches by
18 feet 4 inches by 9 feet 1 inch with a shrine measuring 9 feet by 7 feet with four pillars
which are each 6 feet 3 inches in height and 5 feet 3 inches in circumference and a
Nandi was cut in the 16th year of Vijaya Danti Varman, a Pallava King (c. 775-826 A.D.)
by Videlviduga Muttaraiyan aligs Kuvanan Sattan in the hill at Tiruvalattur and installed
the lingag Which is here named Vagisvara (the Sanskrit equivalent of Tirunavukkarasu
called Appar) after Saint Appar. Malayadipatti was then known as Tiruvalattur.

In the 'froﬁt of the rock-cut shrine is a mandapa built in the Vijayanagar style, the
pillars of which are slender and have corbels of the puspapedigai type.

The Vishnu shrine with its hall 32 feet 7 inches by 32 feet 2 inches, platform or altar

" 9feet 3inches by 3 feet 6inches and shrine 16 feet 8 inches by 5 feet belongs towhat Longhurst
calls the Mamalla type. The pillars here are more elegant thanin the Siva temple. The base
is carved in the shape of a conventional lion sitting erect and carrying the shaft of the column
onitshead. The shaftis crowned with a capital which carries a double brakets, supporting
the architrave. The pillared hall in front of the cell contains large panels cut in the side
walls filled with sculptures in high relief including Narasimba (Fig. 49) and Varahamurti
(Fig. 50) and standing and secated images of Vishnu with his consorts (Fig. §1). The cell
proper contains the pringipal idol, a marvellously carved image of Vishou as Seshasayi or
the God lying on the serpent Adisesha (Fig. 32). The five hoods of the serpent are spread

. out like a canopy over the God’s head. From his navel raises a lotus stalk crowned with
a flower on which Brahama is seated. The feet of the God rest on another lotus. On the
wallare the figares of Madhu and Kaitabha, two demons who threatened to slay Brahma, but
were themselves slain, and other sculptures represently devas. In front of the serpent coush
are the kneeling figure of a Rishi believed to be Bharadvaja, and of a Goddess, probably
Bhudevi. This fine image of Vishnu, lying down as at Srirangam on a stone serpent is
gmaller than the one at Srirangam, which in turn is smaller to Tirvmayam. The two armed

dvarapalakas bere are also do not seem to be conventional figures, but may be portrait-
sculptures. -

P.S.I. 943, aa undated inscription records that Mangan Tenkondan, son of Sellapokkan

an Araiyar of Temmavur built the Amman shrine and installed the Nacciyar (Lakshmi)
in it.

C.l 257-7—8
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Two inscriptions—P.S.I. 757 and 912—yefor &\Q a gift of villages and other grants to
the Vishnu shrine by Achutappa Nayak, king o Tanjore (16th century). =~ =

P.S.L 116, dated 1087 A.D. a record of the rejgn of Virarajendra, mentions thar Kalak-
kudi was a devadanam village belonging to the Siva'temple here. -P.S.I. 904 in the Siva
temple relates the story of Avadaiyan Tevan of Pucchikudi who went to the house of a
dancing girl at Tirunedungolam, and finding her in the company of a Brahmin killed
both of them and lost his eyesight in conségiience, but recovered-it on his vowing to grant
land in pérpetuify to the God Vagisvara and the Goddess Vadivullamangai.

There are crude paintings, now considetably defaced, on the ceiling of the Vishou
cave-temple just above the reclining Vishnu image. In the beginning it was thouglt t- be
the original painting work of the Pallavasg, but the later tests proved that these pairtings are
mot ¢arlfer than the 16th century and are perhaps much Iater.



VIJAYALAY A CHOLISWARAM TEMPLE
‘ 0N )

Narttamalai lies 113 miles to the north-west of Pudukkottai, in Pudukkottai—TFiru-
~hirappalli route.  Narttamalai .is the name given to a group of nine low hills and a small
village that lies rested attheirfoot. According to folk-lore and legendry account the hills are
fragments of rocks of the Sanjiviparvata (Mt. Sanjivi) Which dropped here when Hanuman
fluag it back -from Lanka (Ceylon) after he had saved, by the miraculous herb Sanjivi
which grew on it,.the lives of fallen heroes who had swooned on the battlefield. Hence
the hills are said to be quite a garden of rare medicinal herbs. Itis also said that minesal

. formations and deposits like Silagit, Asbestos and lron Sulphate exist on the rocks.

The Perungalur Sthalapurana detives the place-name Narttamalsi from sage
Narada (Narada's hill) and this is perpetuated by mistaking the image playing on the Vina
found in many parts of the village for the sage Narada’s image.. Many stories ar¢ woven
round it to.show that the village was found by Narada. In the inscriptions, it is referred
to as Nagarattarmalai, the old name of the place. '

Marttamalai was.included in the Pallava emrpire for about two centuries 7th to 9tb, bt
was directly administered by the: Muttaraiyar chiefs, who used to be under the contsol of
the Pallava Kings. The cave temple at Melamalai, known as Paliyili Isvaram was excavated -
in the time of the Pallava Nandivarman III (c.826-849 A.D.) by a Muttaraiya chief Satan
Paliyili, son of Videlvidugu Muttaraiyan. There is an inscription here dated in the seventh
year of the Pallava emperot Nrpatungavarman (c. 849-875 A.D.). This region must have
afterwazds been disputed by the Pandyas and Cholas tillabout the middle of the 9th century
when it was conquered. by Vijaxalaya Chola and incerporated in the Chola temple.- ‘The
structura] temple on Melamalai is named after Vijuyalaya. .In the reign of Raja Raja I
{c. 985-1014 A.D.).-Narttamalai was .called Telungu Kula-Kala puram after one of the
titles of the King. = There ane inscriptions here of the reigns of Rajendra 1T asd Kulottunga 1.
In the reign.of Kulottunga III the place wasaleo called Kulottunga Cholapuram. :During
the last years of his reign, Narttamalai came under Pandyan rule. Rajendra HI probably
recovered it, since there is here an inscription of his reign, but very soon it again passed
into the hands of the Pandyas. :

1t is believed that after subduing the Hoysala Kingdom, and the cities of Kapnarur
Srirangam, etc., the Khilji general Malikkafur marched towards Madurai byway of Kadam-
barkovil at Narttamalai. Narttamalai was under the rule of the Madurai Sultans for
about 50 years in the 14th century umtil the Vijayanagar inscription-here is dated . A.D.
1431 in the reign of Devaraya Il, and mentions a local chief Ambeyaraya Udalyar, son of
Mahamandalesvaran Virakumara Tirumallinatha Udaiyar, it came later under the direct
rule of the Madurai Nayaks. We hear of Akkal Raja, a Vijayanagar nobleman, with his
title (PSL. 911) Sriman Mahamandalisvara . Solarviman Sola Narayanan Immadi ARkaladeva
Sola Maharaja, who on his way tp' Rameswaram was persuaded to settle in this tract to
put down the lawless Visenginattu Kallars. He lived in a fort on the Narttamalai hills. A
Pallavaraya princess Akkacci (Akkacciyakulam is at Pudukkottai) by name.employed &
Kallar warrier of the Kacciran kept to-slay him and bring .her his head. ‘When
AXkal Raja was.thus killed, his seven wives.committed sati by throwing themselves into_a
fire prepared. near Noccikkanmoi by the side of the Narttamalai hills. The Rondaimans
got Narttamalai from the Pallavarayans. ,

Owing to its natural advantages for defence it was for long used as a military station,
and traces now exist of fort walls and citadels. o

The earliest reference to local assemblies are in the period—7th, 9th centuries. The
nagaram of Narttamalai came into prominence in about the 10th century, and. as a unit of
local administration flourished for many centuries. It controlled the temples, received and



!fj

32

managed gifts for them, controlled taxation, effecied sales and other modes of conveyance.
of land, exempted lands from taxes, distributed among its members the revenue-survey and

- accounts work of the village, and functioned through an executive body of its own creation.
.Silaya Chettis, who often bore the names of Chola or Pandya Kings, seem to have been the

chief marcantile class in this nagaram. The Vishnu shrine in the Melamalai cave is called
Padinenbhumi Vitnagaram, evidently after the * eighteentowns » of the Ainnurruvar, and we
may conclude shat this nagaram was associated with or affiliated to the great corporation of
Ainnurruvar, . . : ,

The nine hills at Narttamalai are called 1. Melamalai, 2. Kottaimalai, 3. Kadambar-
malai, 4. Paraiyanmalai, 5. Uvaccanmalai, 6. Aluruttimalai, 7. Bommamalai, 8. Man-
malai; and 9. Ponmalai. . :

The chief object of our interestis found at Melamalai. They are Vijayalaya cholisvaram,

Paliyili Isvaramand Samanarkudagu.

- Vijayalaya 6ho,lisvaram temple i3 one of the earliest and gi-a.ndest of the structural stone
temples built during the time of Vijayalaya on Melamalal (Fig. 53). It is having a main
shrine in the centre with six sub-shrines all round facing the main shrine. The basement

- of the seventh sub-shrine can bz traced, OQriginally there must have been eight sub-shrines.

‘There should also have existed a prakara wall surrounding the whole groyp with a gateway
in the eastern side. - : o

The main shrine (Figs. 54 and 55) facing the west is built from basement to the finial of
well-dressed gneiss blocks neatly and accurately fitted and covers an area of 1,240 square feet.

" The garbhagriha is circular, Its interior diameter is 5 feet 6 inches and its height 8§ feet.

The wall running round it is 5 feet thick in its circular portion. There are four square pillars
at the four corners which probably be meant to support the heavy stone structure above the
hollow stone vimana. Round the shrine chamber runs a circumambulatory passage

(pradakshinapatha) to serve as a passage for the benefit of the devotees. The circular
garbhagriha is enclosed by a square structuie measuring 24 feet side to side outwardly. The

~ linga is cylindrical.

The walls of the garbhagriha are adorned with plain pilasters, and there are no niches of
its walls for installing images, which we generally found in some Hindu temples of 9th and
10th centuries. , : : ‘

An ardhamandapa in the form of a closed hall is attached in front of the main mandapa
and has a moulded basement, This front mandapa and, which is covered, is supported by
six pillars in the centre, which are cubical at the extremities but octagonal in the middle.
_The capitals above are bracketed, and their underside is bevelled off and has a rolled orna-

- ment with a median band. The walls are decorated with pilasters having plain and angular

bracket capitals. * The roof of the mandapa is flat, composed of flat stabs drawn out into a
single arched massive cornice which is adorned with kudus at close intervals throughout its
tength. Inside the kuaus are carved human heads or animal figures and on their top is a
trifoliated finial. There are the usual rows of bhutaganas. Over the edge of the rock runs a
parapet wall decorated with a serie~ of miniature shrines called panjaras. The panjara or
‘eclls at the edges are cubical in form with a four sided curvilinear roof while in the centre
there is a rectangular structure with a wagon shaj ed roof overit. In the interspace project~
ing in front of the parapet, are dancing finial figures of nymphs illustrating some graceful
poses of Bharatanatya. o S , ‘ .
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The spire above the central circusar shrine is unique in style. It consists of a circalar

_ tower Tising just above the roof -of the central circular shrine. The whole structure is
hollow and completely shut out from the lower shrine. It has four stoteys and each storey is
separated from the next by a beavy single arched cornice Which is similar ip all minor details
to the one cn the main walls of the cuter mardcpa. Tke reofs of the parapet wall over the
garbhagriha and of the ardhamandapa merge with tke second tier of the vimana. The
topmost cotnice 15 circuler ard the sikhara rises above the griva. It is deme-shaped ana
adorned with kudv’s op its four sides 2nd with similar but smieller oncs baween them.  The
circular griva (neck) is provided with projecting niches in which images are placed. Four
seated bulls are placed at fcur corners. The stone stupi (finial), which should have once
adorned it, is missing now. Amongthe figures in the niches, those of Umemabesvara and
Vinadhara I_)akshm_amurti are very graccful ard interesting. ‘The Vina in the hands of the
latter figure is peculiar. The ‘sound box’ atthe lowerend is rectangular and not circular.

The main entrance of the central shrine in front of the ardkamandapa has a fine fioral
design above the lintel. _ :

There ate two door-keepers, dvaragpalakas (Figs. £6 and 57) of great artistic value on
either side of the entrance to the ardhamandopa, though in some temples they are placed: at
the entrance of the mulasthana itself. Dvardpalakas are five feet each in height. They
stand with theit legs crossed. They have only itwo arms each, one testing on a thick club
and the other held in * vismaya® (wondeting) pose. Eachis crowned with * jatamakuta®
and loose hair radiates cop either side. Their hcads are .alco surrounded by a halo
(prabhavali) and two horns like the limbs of a crescent project on either side. They wear
big circular ear-rings in their long ears and are adorned with the usual‘katibandha,udarabandha®
for the body, armlets on the wrists, bracelets on the upper arms and be jewelled necklaces
onthe neck. The rolled type of the sacred thread (yajnopavita) tuns round the left shoulder
across the chest, rests on the right hip and is ornamented with a series of tassels and bells.

There are now six (out of the eight) sub-shrines round the main shrine. Fach of them
consists of a small shrine-chamber with a circular bell-shaped tcwer crewned witha circular
stone finial ; an enclosed rectangular open mandapa stands in front. No image is found in
any of them now. Each is one storéyed (eka-tala).

There ate traces of paintings on the walls of the ardhamandapa. As the edifice was left
in a completely neglected condition and the whole of its ceiling was leaky for a long time,
and due to the rain watet inest.of the paintings have disappearcd ncw, and only in few
places they are visible in a faint and indistinct condition.

The painting on a portion of the northern side wall of the ardhamandapa though not
clearly visible can however be traced. It covers an area of 8 feet by § feet and represents
Siva Bhairava. The figure is drawn in a standing posture 'with a wide mouthed dog
standing behind it. 1t is enclosed within iwo arms of an arc with their erids converging at
the top and the bottom and their sides decorated with a series of flames throughout their
length. 1t has eight hands and holds a damary, a hooded serpent, a long-pointed lance like
arrow and some weapon not clearly visible, probably khatvanga in its four right hands ; a
dagger, a shield, a long bow and a spouted vessel in its four left hands. It has three rounded
eyes and puts on a fierce aspect. It wears a mailed corsetlike covering for the chest. A
sacred thread (Yajnopavita) passes over its left shoulder right across the chest and falls on
itsright hip. Itwears a pumber of necklaces and garlands of which a long string of human
skulls is prominent. It has a waist band from which four bells are suspended and two
serpents are also enfwined round the loins with their hoods spreading cut. It has a
Jjatamakuia on its head adorped with a pumber of ornaments. A rumber of armlets and
bracelets are placed on allits wrists and upperarms. In its ears it Wears ear-1ings (kundalas)
and other ornements usually found ip similar figures tairted frcm the 17th century,
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It is painted in dark bluish green. Two figures probably gandharvas are painted one in sach
of the tWo corners on the top. The whole background and all the outlines init are drawn
in rich brick red colour. The finz brush work espzcially found in line drawing of the
artists of the 9th and 10th centuries is completely absent. The graceful poses given to

the limbs of human figures showing a feeling for movement in the paintings of the 9th and
10th century in Southern India are also absent in it.

Aninscription of the 12th year of the Pandya King Maravarman Sundara Pandya Deva
(A.D. 1228) is found on the rock to the north east of cave I (alias Samana Kudagu) and
opposite to the group of structural shrines. This inscription mentions about the provision
made by the Nagarattar (the corporation of m:rchants) of this village for.the celebration of
the Vaigasi festival of * Uddaiyar Vijayalaya Cholisvaram Udaya Nayanar™. According to
Thiru S. R. Balasubrahmanyam, the Pandya inscription does not refer the cave I as itis a
‘Vaishpavite temple and the cave II as it is already referred beyond any ambiguity as

- Paliyili Isvaram by the inscription on the basement but refers only this group of structural

stone shrines, as there is no other Siva temple on the Melamalai. Moreover, “in the whole
dynasticlist of the Chola Kings, thete is only one Kingwap bears the name of Vijayalaya
Chola. Hence it has bzen concluded that this group of structural shrine at Narttamalai
Is the Vijayalaya Cholisvaram constructed during the time of Vijayalaya Chola” the founder
ofthe Chola dynasty, and theidentity of the structure ofits age are beyond dispute..

The Pandyan inscription, no doubt, b:longs to the 13th cantu ry, but it is only correct

" to infer that it should have recorded the name of this temple faithfully as it was handed
“dowa by tradition from the time of its foundation. _

Paliyili Isvaram:.—Paliyili Isvaram, knownas Cave Temple II is asmall rock-cut
Sivatemple. Ithasa garbhagriha cutoutoftherock. It measures 8°x7°6” and is 6’8"
in height. Infront of itis a moulded basem-=nt with a mouldz>d bzading above and frieze
of dancing bhutaganas. A cyclindricallinga and two dvarapalakas, two armed, belonging

‘to this temple have now bzen excavated, and now placzd on ths platform. -An inscription

on the moulded basement, dated inthe seventh year of the Pallava King Nrpatungavarman
(A.D. 855-896) records that the temple was excavated by Sattan Paliyili, son of Videlvidugu
Muttaraiyan, that Sattan’s son built the front mandapa  and had a nandi installed, and that
his daughter Paliyili Siriyanangai, wife of Minavan Tamiladiyaraiyan, also called Mallan
Anandan, made a gift of land to the temple. This is therefore styled Paliyili Isvaram, after

‘the name of the founder.

Samanar Kudagd:— Cave temple I is a rock-cut cave pdpularly called ‘Samanar Kudagu’
(Cave of the Jains) which is 50 feet to the north of Paliyili Isvaram. Perhaps it was originally

.8 Jaina cave of about the 7th century A.D. Now it has features of a Vaishnavite shrine
© .containing a reotangular sanotuary, with a doorway and an ardhamandapa supported by .
- massive but rude pillars supporting bracketed capitals. The sanctuary is empty, but the

ardhamandapa  contains twelve wonderful images of Vishnu ( Figs. 58 and 59) cut in high

- relief, two on the sides and five each on the two sides of the doorway leading to the sanctum,

The figures are allalike, and each holdsin its upper arms a prayogachakra (a discus as if in the

- act of hurling it) and a conch. One of the lower arms is in the abhayamudra, or pose

Indicative of protection from danger, and the other touches the thigh. The sankha, the
:chakrathe garments and the ornamentation deserve praise. Ths twelve figures perhaps

- represent those of the twelve common names of Vishnu-Kesava, Nirayana, Madhava,
- Govinda, Trivikrama, Vamana, Achyuta, Sridhara, Padmanabhi, Damodara, Vasudsva
- and Madbusudana.

EN

* In front of the temple is the moulded plinth of the makamandapa \with figures of .lions

“slephants, yalis and kamadenus carved above the beading. From an uapuablished inscriptions

traced on the moulded basement dated in the 45th year of the Chola King Kulothunga I
(1050 plus 45=A.D. 1095) Thiru S. R. Balasubrahmanyam concludes that this temple was

verted into a Vishnu shrine ‘at least very close to this period, if not actually at the date
of the inscription’ (J. O. R. Vol. VIII, pp. 25-26). This inscription registers a sale of land
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by the Nagarattar to Devan Periyan also called Mudikonda Chola Telungaiyaraiyan for the
~conduct of daily worship to the God Karumanikka Alvar of Tirumarkkovil. Aoccording
to Thiru S. R. Balasubrahmanyam, the position of the inseription is so low and ths gaps
so narrow that it would not have been possible for any stonemason to engrave it after the
construction of the basemant.  Henceif hasto bz inferred that the inscription was engraved
prior to the fitting up of the blocks into the basements.  P.S.L 281 of the reign of Mara-
varman Sundara Pandya 1 clearly mentions that the ‘western temple® was consecreated and
in it wereinstalled the idolsof Vishnu and thoseof hiscoasorts. From this we may
conjecture that there was a temple to Karumanikka Perumal, then known as the Tirumere
Kovil or western temple in the reign of Kulottunga I, that it must have subsequently fallen
into ruins, and that about a century later, in the reign of Maravarman Sundara Pandya E,
the Jain cave temple was converted into Tirumerkovil, and the idols of Vishnu and his devis
were installed in it. These idols are now missing. * The twelve figures of Vishau must have

been cut out the rock when the cave temple became a Vishou temple.



SIVA (AGASTISVARA) TEMPLE
- PANANGUDI.

Panangudi is a village situated about nine miles from Pudukkottai in the Pudukkottai-
Annavasal road and a little to the south of the world famous fresco paintings in the rock-
cut Jaina cave-temple called Sittannavasal. The temple is situated on the southern bund
of the tank of the village. .

This Siva temple (Fig. 60) is a conserved monument, in external appearance it is a
- wery small, compact but beautiful edifice, built completely from the basement to the finial
of well-dressed and close-fitting granite blocks. It is exactly similar to the structural
temples at Kaliyapatti (Kulattur taluk), Tiruppur (Kulattur taluk) and Epadi (Tirumayam
taluk), bothip sizeand style of construction. Thisis a single-storeyed temple and is complete
with its original sikhara and stupi. It consists of garbhagriha and the ardhamandapa.  The
basement of nandi mandapa and one of the subshrintes can be traced from ruins. The
nioul!c)ied bas%ment of the mahamandapa which is buried below the surface of the ground can
also be traced. . . . :

The garbhagriha is nine feet square externally and five feet square internally. The outer .
walls contain pilasters which are decorated with elegant scroll work. The corbels are
plain and angular. There are niches on the walls of the garbhagriha,-but no idols are found
in them at present. The ardhamandapa is intact and forms an integral part of the original
shrine. - The cornice is provided with kudus crowned with trifoliated pieces of stone. Its
corners-are decorated with scroll work. A frieze of bhutaganas is found below the cornice
and a frieze of yali above it, with makhara heads at the corneis. The griva above the cornice
Is four-sided with a niche in the centre of each of the four sides for idols. The niches are
surmounted by large beautiful kudu crowned with simha heads projecting into the sikhara.
Fine stone images of Indra, Dakshitiamurti (Fig.61),Vishnu ard Brahma are installed in the

-piches. Each image is one foot and two inches high. ' .
The sikhara is four-sided and curvilinear. The stone stupi is also four-sided in keeping
with the shape of the sikhara. : :

© Tmages of Jyesthadevi, Ganapati, a Naga and four Nandi figures were found buried
fn the ground. Jyesthadevi should have been one of the deities of the sub-shrines of the
original shrine. , - )

: There are three inscriptions in this temple—one of the Chola King Kulottunga Chola IIi

(acc. A.D, 1178) and another of an unidentified Maravarman Kulasekhara Pandya and the

third, the earliest dated in the fourteenth year of a Ko-Parakesarivarman on the northern

- wall of the temple. In the Iast-mentioned insoription, the presiding deity is called
* Panangudi Paramesvaran ’. : ‘ ‘



JAIN CAYE TEMPLB
IN )
SITTANNAVASAL. ]

Sittannavasal, corruption of SITTANNALVAYIL (Sitfu means Siddha or adept, annal
means great or exalted) which means ‘the abode of Great Saints’ is a village nine miles
noith-west of Pudukkottai town in the Tiruchirappalli-Viralimalai route. In the village is a
hillock which is about 200 feet in height and runs approximately north and south. On the
western  slope of the central rock there is a rock-cut cave temple called Arivarkovil (the
temple of ARHAT or the Tirthankara). . '

This rock-cut temple is believed to bave been excavated in the time of the Great Pallava
King Mahendravarman 1 (640-670 A.Df. From the fact that among the numerous cave
temples made in his time, this is the only Jaina temple, while all the others are dedicated
to the Hindu Gods, it seems probable that this was made early in his reign. when he was a
Jain, before his conversion to the Saivite faith. An inscription of the time of the Pandya
. King Avanipasekara S1i Vallabha, on the rock to the south of the cave-témple, describes
the construction ¢f a mukhamandapa  in stone in front of it, the plinth of which.is still
intact. An easy climb of about hundred feet over the sloping rock takes the visitor of the
entrance of the cave-temple. ‘

The plan and construction of the temple in all essentials resemble the other well-known
¢ Mahendravarman ’ cave temples in South India. The rock-cut cave consists of a garbha-
griha 10’ square and 7’ 6 in height, and an ardhamandapa in front, 22’ 6" in length,

*7’6"in width and 8 ' 6 " in height, both facing west. A doorway,5’'6' " by276” approa-
ched by a flight of steps flanked by surulyalis leads from the outer hall to the sanctum.
The facade consists of two massive pillars in the middle and two pilasters, one at either
end. The pillars are typical ¢ Mahendravarman Pillais * with a cubical base and top (two
feet squaie) the middle third being octogonal. The pilasters are of the same design. The
pillars carry massive ¢ Pallava ’ corbel capitals with bevelled edges. The lower surface of

the corbels including the bevelled part are adorned with roll ornaments or flutings on either

side with a plain median band in the centre. The rock above the pillars is carved in the
form of 2 massive beam, in front of which projects a single flexured cornice.

i
On cither side of the doorway to the inner shrine ate ornamented pilasters enclosing
two niches, one on either side. These pilasters are smaller but of the same type as the
pillars. They have on the upper cubical parts of the outer face lotus medallions carved
in bold relief, a usual feature of this type of cave-temples.. There is a large niche in each
of the northern and southern walls in the front-hall.

The niche on the southetn wall of the outer hall contains a figure in bas-relief, nude and

seated cross-legged, in the meditative pose. The hood of the five-headed serpent above

its head denotes that it is the image of Parsavanatha, the twenty-third Tirthankara. The

figure on the opposite wall, placed in a similar niche, seated in the same pose with a single

umbrella over his head, is designated Tiruvasiriyan or the Great Acarya in a Tamil inscrip-
_ tion on the eastern face of the bottom of the pillar in front of it.

On the back wall of the sanctum above the middle line of the wall are three images
carved in 1elief, allin the same seated meditative posture. The northern and central figures
have triple umbrellas, showing them to be Tirthankaras, while the southern has a single
umbrella, and probably represents a Cakravartin or an Acarya. ’

The ceiling of the sanctum shows a wheel with a hub and axle which no doubt repre-
sents the dharma cakra or wheel of the law. - ; N
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The whole cave, consisting of the walls, ceilings, cornice, beams and pillars were
originally covered with plaster and paintings, and the sculptures also were covered with
painted stucco: Now those on the walls have perished, and only-postions of the paintings -
on the ceilings, beams and the upper parts of the pillars alone remain intact today. This
painting was discovered by the late Mr. T. A. Gopirath Rao and Prof. G. J. Dubreuil
- of Pondicherry. : , . - '

The paintings above the three images in the sanctum is intended to setve as eanopy
whichis nine feet by three feet. The design suggests a green carpet with red striped borders
bnallsides and is decorated with a series of irregular circles and squares interlinked. Within
the squares are conventional designs of lotus flowers, and inside the circles are svastikas-
crosses With bulbous ends resembling the ‘Ujjain’ symbols on old Andhra coins, Above
the horizontal arm of each cross are two human figures, one on either side, and below the
‘arm are two lions, one on either side, and facing outwards. Both patterns are green with

_ black outlines on a red back-ground. ' :

Carp:t canopies of different patterns are painted on the ceiling over the two images
~ inthe ardaznanidapa. That over Parsavanatha has both natural and conventional lotus

flowers, the former in full blossom against a lotus leaf background. - That over the acarya
has oaly coanventional designs of green lotuses outlined in white and black with black
dots ; they are now much faded and defaced. - : .

-~ Io thz s:ntre of the ceiling of the ardhamandapa and in the front part of the ceiling
ofthe innzr shrine, upto borders of the carpet canopy, we find the principal painted scene
- ofthe Lotus-pool, containing water-lilies and lotuses, (Fig. 62) signifying an aspect of Jaina
‘mythology and believed to be Samavasarana Tank. This tank is the Khatikabhumi ot the
region of water in the Samavasarana heaven in Jaina mythology. The whole background
is formed by the green leaves and the black stalks of the lotuses and the Water lily. Against
this are depicted with the utmost realism red and white lotuses (nelumbium speciosum)
aad red water-lilies (Nymphaea pubzcens) at different stages of blossom and bud. In
- their midst are found some matsyas (fish), kamsas (geese), (Fig.63) cranes,a makhara, three
bulls (M. J. Dubreuil calls them buffaloes), three elephants and three men, who are
probably- Bhavyas, each holding a lotus in his hand. - - .

-+ . Nzat the north-west corner of the tank are two Bhgvyas. They wear only loin clothes,
© . theirears are lobad, and hair is cut close and parted in the middle. One of them red, out-
lined in black, an is plucking fotus flowers with his right hand and has a basket of flowers
slung on the.other. * His companion is orange outlined in black, and carried a lotus in one.
hand, waile his other arm is bant at the etbow, the fore and little fingers forming the M-
~ gimudra ot dser-gesture. The third BAavya, near the sovth-west corner, extremely beauti-
. t‘ul figure, orange in colour and outlined in black carries a bunch of lotuses by their stalks
over his left shoulder and a long stalked lily over his right.

~ The pose and expression of these three Biayyas have a charm and beauty which com-

- pelattention. The colours of their bodies have a significance and so have those of the
_animalsdepicted in the tank. ~ According to Jaina belief Pita Lesyam (orange) Swkla Lesyam
{white) and Padma Lesyam (Lotus-red) are the Lespa (the colour of the soul) of pure souls, .
vhile Krsna (black), Nila (indigo or dark-blue) and Kapota (grey) are the Lesya of wicked

souls.

- There are also some more important paintings on the pillars worth mentioning.
Onthe front face of the southern pillar is a beautiful figure of a dancer (Fig. 64) her left arm
stretched out gracefully in what is known in Natya-Sastra as the danda or lolahasta ox

.- latavrsika gesturé, and her right arm bent at the elbow, the palm held in the Abhaya
pose. Her ears are adorned with patrakundala or olai or rings set with gems, and her arms
decked with bracelets and bangles. The colour of the body is yellow, the outlines are

dark red and the back-ground red. .
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Perhaps even more graceful is the other dancer on the front face of the upper cebica!
oi vhe northern pillar. Her coiffure is artistic, the hair is parted in the middle and done
up into a chingnon at the back, adorned with a few ornaments and a number of flowers
and petals of the Pandanus. The ears are adorned with rings set with gems. She wears
necklaces of various kinds, and her arms are adorned with wristlets and armlets. She has.
her left arm in the gajahasta gesture suggesting an elephant’s trunk, while ber right arm - -
is bent at the elbow, the paim facing outwards in the abhaya gesture. These two gestures
suggest those of the two arms of Nataraja.. The colour of the body is yellow, the out-
lines are dark red and the back-ground red. ,

These two animated figures, with their broad hips, slender waists, and elaborate orna-
ments, recall the beauty of the apsaras of mythology; their pose and expression suggest
rhythm and dynamic movement,

On the northern face of the southern pillar is a portrait group of a king and queen
(Fig. 65). .They are identified as Mahendravarman and his queen. The king has an ela- -
borate kirita {(coronet) on his head, and a patrakundala in one ear and makharakundala
in the other, Round his neck there are a few necklets., His demeanour and his diadem
indicate his royal status. Behind him is his queen, ber hair made up in a sort of top-knot
(dhammilla).  Both these figures are yellow, with dark-red outlines, and the background
is grcen. In front of them is a human figure coloured red—too faded to be identified.

There are also paintings on the corbels, beam and cornice. On the corbeél are scroll
designs with lotuses. The paintings on the cornice, which projects in front of the manda-
pa, is made up of carpet designs with conventional lotuses. The surface of the cornice
in front of the two pillars bears a hamsa or mythical swan. On the northern wall below
the cornice, on a patch of plaster are the figures of a trident, fruits and flowers in
yellow and red. , _

The technique employed here is known as Fresco-secce or painting in a medium of
- lime, while the Ajanta and Bagh are of tempera technique. - The Sittannavasal plaster
is firmer and better consolidated than the Ajanta one (S. Paramasivam in studies in Indian
Paintings). The ground was prepared by a coating of rough plaster (rich pure lime and
fine angular grains of sand as an inert material) to make the surface of the dressed stone
even. No organic binding medium like drying oil, gum, glue, albumin or Casein is pre-
sent in the plaster. Over this a thin coat of lime-wash was applied while the plaster was
still web to ensure proper binding between the layers. The lime-wash was spread just
before it was painted en. Vegetable colours, sensitive to lime and other alkalics, could
not be used, and, obviously therefore, earth or mineral pigments were used. This fact
‘limited the choice of colours. The chief colours used are black, green, yellow, orange -
blue, and white. The substances used for these pigments have been found on analysis
to bz wood-charcoal or lamp-black for black, red ochre for red, yellow ochre for yellow,
lapislazali or ultramarine for blue, terre-verte for green and lime for white. Evidently
pigments which were locally available and which were compatible with lime have been
used.

The Sittannavasal paintings carry on the tradition of the well-known Ajsnta fres-
coes of the first seven centuries A.D., the Ceylon Sigiriya frescoes of the fifth century and
the Bagh frescoes in the Gwalior state of the sixth and seventh centuries A.D. Sittanna-
vasal is therefore an early example of the Ajantan or post-Ajantan period, and in merit is
compares well with Ajanta and Sigiriya. We may safely say that the wall paintings at
Sittannavasal forms the only group of Jain paintings in India of the 7th century A.D.
executed on the Ajanta style.



SRI VYAGRAPURISVARA TEMPLE
o
TIRUVENGAIVASAL.

The vitlage Tiruvengaivasalis three miles from Pudukottai and is situated in the village
which lies in between the Pudukottai-Manapparai and Pudukottai-Tiruchirappalli route.

Tiruvengaivasal is a well-known and an ancient place.of worship. The name means
the ‘Sacred place or gate of the Tiger’ and refers to the story of the God Gokarnesa of
Tirugokarnam who here took the form of a tiger, to terrify and finally grant salvation te
a cow that daily brought the sacred water fog his ablution (see under Tirugokarnam for an
account of the legend. Page 10),

The main shrine faces east. 1t has been renovated, and the original structure should
have been an eatly Chola structure. The reason for this conjecture is the presence of the
Saptamatrika group, and other old idols within the cloister in the southern prakara.

. The present structure is .of the Pandya style of the 13th-14th centuries. The pilasters

are polygonal in section with square bases having ~nagapadmas;the  padmas are drawn
out into idols, and the corbels are of -the pushpapodigai type with rudimentary buds.

There are niches in three sides of the main shrine. The niche in the north is empty,
while the wast contain a standing Vishnu.  In the place of the south niche, a small roofed
structure is constructed with the help of some fallen pillars, and an idol of Gnana Dak-
shinamurti (Fig. 66) is installed. This idol of Gnana Dakshinamurti has rare iconographie
features. ‘The deity is in seated pose with his left leg kept in utkulikasana posture, &
posture suitable for concentratien. It has four arms, and the front left arm is stretched
on the left leg, which is unusual. - -

There is an ardhamandapa  and a mahamandapa in front of the main shrine of Sri
Viyagrapurisvara. To the north of the anrarala mandapa  is the shirne of the Goddess

~ © Sri Brihadambal, facing south, which is late Chola or eatly Pandya structure with square
pilasters, simple idals, square palagais and tenoned corbels. The southern part of this

mandapa  contains modern bronze idols now catried in the temple processions. The

" mahamandapa is - a Chola structure with pilasters as supporting large palagais and
- corbels with tenons. _ :

At the mziin'ell_trance in the east to téhcrtcmple is a mandapa  with massive pillars
supporting carved lions onits top. The base of the gopura is of the late Pandya style,
but the upper part has been reconstructed. :

In the southern prakara there is a shrine facing west containing an interesting
sculpture of Subrahmanya (Fig. 67) in bas-relief in the virasana pose; the upper right
hand holds a rosary, and the upper left a Saksi or spear; the lower right hand is in the:
abhaya pose and the lower left hand rests. on the thigh. Within the cloister of the

" southern prakara is an idol of Yoga Dakshinamurti, Subrahmanya with two arms,

two Ganesas, two lingas  with their yonipz‘tka and a_-Gajalakshmi. -

In the northern prakara is a shrine facing west and containing three sculpturos
of Bhairava, Surya and Subrahmanya. Anothet shrine is in the same prakara towards
the western end facing towards south, and contains a four armed Subrahmanya with

" his consorts-Valli and Devasena. A mutilated loose sculpture of Bhairava is alsoin

the northern prakara. - .
Near the southern entrance is a shirne built in the reign of Raja Rﬁmachandﬁ

_ Tondaiman, in which is kept the idol of Amman, slightly mutilated in its left hand. It is
" said that when a new idol was installed, the old mutilated one was about to be thrown

into the tank to the south of the temple, and that Amman appeared before the Rajain s
dream and directed him not to cast it away but to preserve if in a shrine, whish the pige-

, .
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There are 15 inscriptions in this temple; six are Chola, seven Pandya, one of the Vijaya-

aagar and one of the Pallavarayar’s period.

The earliest inscription in this temple of Sri Vyagrapurisvara is dated in the reign
of Raja Raja I (1011 A.D.) and refers to the God as Tirumerralai Perumal ot ‘the Lord
of the western Shrine’. He s called Cudamani Vitangan in an inscription of the reign
of Ralendra I (1037 A.D.), which also mentions the Amman shrine which was probably
built in this reign. Sadiran Jrasan, also called Kullottunga Chola Kidarattaraiyan, conse-
-crated a linga called ofter him Sadira Vitangan, and instituted a festival, at which plays
were enacted (P.S. 1. 139 of the reign of Rejadhiraja 11, dated 1175 A.D.). Ap inscription
of the reign of Raja Raja 1II records that land endowed for a festival was to be allotted
in equal shares to the God Vyagrapurisvara or Tiruvengaivayiludaiya Nayanar ard to the
God Sadira Vitangan and his Amman. Four inscriptions refer to Santi kuttu or dances
performed in the tempie festivals to induce a feeling of repcse. Those who played this

dance were also callcd Santikutti. The temple seems to have been very rich and had deva-

danz lend inthe villages of Perundanaiyur, Sellikudi, Mayilapur (now called Meayilappatti),
Orumanimangatam, Tiruvetpur (now called Tiruvappur)', Kavalamangalam, etc. An
inscription of the time of the Vijayanagar prince Kampana records the grant of Padikaval
rights by the temple authorities and the residents to a chief of Irumbali. Tiruvengaivasal
had both a Sgbha or Brahmin assembly, and an Ur or common village or town acsembly,
daring the centuries of Chola and Pandya rule }
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SUBRAHMANYA TEMPLE

_ "IN :

- VIRALIMALAIL -

- Viralimslai is situated about 26 n.les from Pudu‘kkbt—tai, and is about 18 niiles frcm
Tiruchirappalli on the high road to Madurai. It is 2 well knewn place thrcughout Scuth
India forits Lord Subrahmanya temple on a hillock (Figs. 68 and 69). Viralimalai is a

. corruption of Viraliyurmalai or the ‘Hill of Viraliyur®." Virelimalai also takes its names
- from a ‘bold rock’ of ‘beautifully banded micaceous granite gneiss’ which it contains,

_The origin of this temple is ascribed to Jnena varodaya, 2 native of Vayalur, six miles
to the west of Tiruchirappalli. When he was a little boy, he played the truant cne day to
escape being flogged 2t.school, and hid himself behind the idol of Subrakmenya in the

-~ emple at Vayalur. There he remained shut up for the night unseen by temple seivants,
" when the God Subrahmanya appeared to himr and blessed bim with the gift of poesy. On

the next morning his parents discovered him in the temple and were delighted to find that
he had suddenly become learned and wise. - . :

Sometime afterwards, God Subrahmanya, so runs the story, came a hunting to the

" tract now called Viralimalai acéompanied by this gifted boy, and found the country so

charming that the God told the boy in a vision of his wish to have a temple built for him
on the top of the hilt at Viralimalai. Thereupon the boy Jnana varodaya communicated
this good néws to Alagiya Manavala of Perambur, who was then the chieftain of this tract.
Alagiya was also granted a vision of the Lord in answer to a hymn of the ‘boy” , but the
vision was so dazzling that the chief1ost his eyesight for a.while. The chief built the temple,
and became one of his most devoted worshipper. The boy Jnana varodaya became the
first trustee of the temple. Portions of the temple were extended by the Kumaravadi and

- Marungapuri chiefs who were the vassals of the Madurai Nayaks. Laudatory songs are
-still sung in praise of the Perambur chiefs during one of the temple festivals at the Eastern

. 'ﬁi}e mandepa’,

. One Karuppamuttu Pillai, a minister of one of the Kumaravadi chiefs was in the habit

of vigiting the temple every Fridsy. Once after he had set out from his house, he found
- that 'on account of heavy showers, a tank had burst end the Mamundi stresm, lying bet- -
- ween Kumaravadi and Viralimslai, had become unfordable. He concluded that he had

to spend the night without meals and what was more inuportant to him without smoking,
The God, however, appeared before hin:  in human form, kindly supplied him with a cigar
and light, and arranged for his visiting the temple that night without difficulty. The grate-
ful devotee ordered that henceforth. cigars should be offered to the God at the time of

" the Iast puja of the day along with food and other eatables and distributed among the
- brahmins and others visiting the temple. It is said that, after the tract passed into the

bands of the Tondaimans, a ruler of Pudukkottai ordered the offering of cigars to be
stopped as inappropriate to such a superior deity as Subrahmanya, and that is said to have
appeared to the ruler in a dream, exhibiting, his injured body and exriained that it was

- . impossible for him to get on without smoking, with the result that the cigar effereing was
‘permitted to be continted. : : - =

Arunagiri, the great Saiva Saint who is bélieved o have lived in the middle of the

" 15th century, visited Viralimalai, and seng in praise of the God here, expressing some of
" his mystic experiences in his famous hymns called Tiruppugal.

°* Subrehmanya Mudsliyar, son of Ekanayaké- Mudaliyar of Kunriyur, both the
ministers of Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman, were greatly devoted to this temple,

annually by the dancing girls here,

- and is the hero of a verse drama caMed Viralimalai Kuravanji which is still staged
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The ascenvto the top of the hill is made by.a series of flights commencing at an entrance
close to the ahanamandapa. To the north of the first landing, about half-way up.
there is a natural cavern in which there is now 2 shrine containing a /inga, an Amman,

Ganesa, etc. At the toy is a mandapa from which one enters the main gopura facing -

- south. More steps lead to the northern prakara. The idol of Sri Subreahmanya has six

faces and twelve hands. The God is seated on a peacock, with the two Ammans— Vaili -

and Devasena, standing on either side. The mandapas arc of the Madurai style, and the

one of the extreme east aﬂ‘ords a panoramic view of the country round as far s the Tiruchi-
- reppallirock fort. ‘

Some panels containing dancing figures in bas-relief evidently belcnging to a ruined
early Chola temple at Kodumbalur, have been built into the walls - of the northern pra-
kara.  The two lion-pillars in the ahanamandapa at tte fcct cf tte hill ere cf the

Pallava type, and probably brought from the rvined Aintalal or Aiveikcvil at Kodum-
balur.
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BHUMISVARA TEMPLE
VIRALUR..

_ Viralur lies on the trunk road from: Tiruchirappalli to Madurai. It is three miles from
. - Kodunrbalur, and a mile and 2 half from Virzlimelai, which is 18 miles from Tiruchirappalli
and 26 miles from Padukkottai. In the past, Viralur was a part of the larger village of
Viraliyur or Viralur mentioned inthe Tiruppugal, which also included the modern village
of Viralimalai that has grown up round the temole on the rock.  The modern-  village
of Viralimalai was then known as Viraliyurmalai. : ' '

 Viratimalai is now famous for the tempié of Subrahmanya on the hill ; but the small
" Bhumisvara Siva temple (Fig. 70} of Viralur is of greater antiquarian importance 2nd
" intevest. This temple has been considered as an early Chola temple. .

The Bhumisvara temple faces the east. 1t is a karrali of the single-storeyed (eka-tala)
vatiety. The main shrine and the ardhamandapa are of th: early Chola period, while
- the mahamandapa = with the Amman shrine to the north are modern structures. The
garbhagriha is square. The plinth (upapitha) has simple moulding with a three sided
kunusdam. The walls of the garbhagriha are adorned with tefragonal pilasters, with the
-wsual components, kal, fadi, padmam, idal, palagai, etc. The abacus is large and massive
with a plain moulding, and the idal below is not carved into petals. The corbels aie simple
with plain bevelled-brackets. The cornice is thick and single-aiched and with a number
of kudus crowned with simha mukhas. Above the cornice there is a yali freize. - There are
three niches in the three sidewalls of the garbhagriha. FEach niche has been surmounted
by a plain arch. In the northern niche instead of usual Brahma, there is a sculpture of
a standing Bhikshatana (Fig. 71) which was originally housed in one of the sub-shrines,
and a standing sculpture of Vishnu in the western niche. Dakshinamurti which might
- have been housed in the southern niche of the main shrine is lving on the ground of the
compound outside the temple. Sculptures of a Jyestha and a Ganesa, probably of the
sub-shrines, arc also found here.

The ardhamandapa has no niches in its walls. The vimana over the sanctum is
of the circular type with a circular griva, a bell shaped sikhara and a circular stupi.
On the four sides of the griva, are niches, and on the four sides of the sikhara are four
large kudus surmounted by simhamukhas which are supported by the niches below. These
niches are now empty. The stupi rests on two layers of lotus petals. The vimana is
hollow inside. There are traces of sib-shrines all round the main shrine.

Unfortunately there are no inscriptions anywhere in this temple. But considering
the architectural features, it can be assigned to the early Chola period. The noteworthy
features of this temple is the simplicity in its structure the nobility in the sculptures, and
the beautiful bell-shaped sikhara crowned by a bulbous stupi.

-



MARGASAHAYESVARA TEMPLE IN VISALUR.

Visalur is 22 miles from Pudukkottai. 8 miles from Keeranwr on the Keeramur-Killu -
Yottai road. '

Visalur has long been famous as the meeting place of the caste panchayats of the
Senkilinattu Kallars. Thé ancient banyan tree here, with about hundred stems, was fo#
centuries the rendezvous of the Kallars, who met and planned their decoities and deprada-
tions, and took oaths of loyalty to their chiefs and clans. Oaths taken here were held
binding, and no Kalla would utter a falsechood within some furlongs of Visalur. According
to tradition Visalur was originally a Vellala village. A Kalla of a neighbouring village
asked for the hand of a Vellala girl, but her father put him off with evasive replies, until
all the Vellala inhabitants migrated to dnother village. One Vellala, however, was in
love with a dancing-girl of Visalur, and continued to pay stealthy visits to her. He was

discoverd and killed ; and the daricing-gir] thereupon committed suicide. But these two
 lover’s love became immortal, and the two lovers are still worshipped as Pattavars. A
Karuppar, a deity from Malabar who was on his way to Nagapattinam, later settled here,
and is now worshipped along with the Pattavars.

The Siva temple here is a karrali and single storey (eka-talo) structure similar fo those
at Kaliyapatti and Tiruppur. Though plain and simple, it is a grand structure and very
well preserved. :

The garbhagriha and ardhamandapa are of the same date, and they stand on a
plinth which has plain mouldings. There are no niches in the walls of the main shrine.
Its walls are adorned with four simple pilasters which are tetragonal with square palagais
and bevelled corbels. The cornice is single curved (arched) and adorned with Fkudus
surmounted by simhamukhas. There is no bhutagana frieze below the cormice ; but a

yali frieze 18 found above it.

The garbhaériba is a square of 8 feet 6 inches in exterior sides and 4 feet 8 incbes in
the interior. : o _

The griva of the vimanais square and has four bulls at the four corners (Fig. 72)..
The figute-niches in the griva are crowned with kudus surmounted with lion-heads,
The southern niche contains a sculpture of Dakshinamurti, that in the west one of Vishnu
and that in the north one of Brahma. The sikhara and the stupi are four-sided ; and
the latter is placed on ratng and kamalapithas. '

. The ardhamandapa projects forward 5 foet 6 inches in the same axis, and is of the-
- same age. - o : . .

"The mahamandapa is a century or so later in date.

The whole structuse from basement to finial is covered with lime-plaster (Fig. 73),.
which hides not only the inscriptions but also the decorative motifs. Half a dozen inscrip-
sions have been copied so far, but they are incomplete ; one of the reign of an unidentified.
Kulottunga Chola, one of an unidentified Jatavarman Vira Pandya and another of an
unidentified Vira Pandya. The others are fragments and are undated. '

The Amman shrine is a much later structure. There are two poitraitesculptures-one..
‘within the Amman shrine and the other in front ef it. : N
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TIRUMAYAM TALUK.
BALASUBRAHMANYA TEMPLE IN KANNANUR.

Kannanur, also known as Rangiyam Kannanur is a village at a distance of 17 miles
from Pudukkottai and about 2 miles inside from the main road to Rangiyam from Puduk-
kottai. There are two temples close to each other on the eastern bund of the large tank
of the village. The one close to the bund is the Balasubrahmanya temple and the other -
is dedicated to Vishnu. Both the temples are conserved monuments and of considerable
ar chitectmal interest. _ '

The original temple of Balasubrahmanya contains a garbhagriha and ardhamandapa
which are early Chola structures belonging to the 9th century. Orginally the temple should
be surrounded by a wall of enclosure, of which only the basement and the pillars of the
main gateways can be seen now.

_ This temple is a complete structural stone temple of the svayampradhana class with
- Subrahmanya as the main deity. The garbhagriha is square, each side measuring twelve
feet six inches externally. Its walls are thick and they are adorned externally with pilasters
which resemble those in the Siva temple at Tirukkattalai and have elegant scroll ornaments,
kalasa, kumbha and palagai. The corbels have an angular profile. There is a frieze
of bhutaganas below the single-arched thick cornice (kodungai) which is also decorated
with kudus having beautiful scroll work. Over the cornice is a frieze of standing yalis.
“There are niches (deva-koshtas) for deities in the outer walls of the garbhagriha, but they
are now empty except the southern one which contains an idol of Dakshinamurti.

This temple is a single storeyed type. The vimana over the central shrine (Fig. 74)
gtands on a circular basement, and there are four niches in its grivg portion which have
scrolled kitdus crowned with simhe heads on the four cordinal points. Images are found
only in two of them and they are beyon ilent fication due to it weather beaten condition.
At the four corners of the griva are four figures of sitting elephants, the vehicle of Subrah-

_manya. ‘

. Generally, Subrahmanya has the banner of the cock which is held in the hand with
peacock His vehicle standing behind. But the Sangam literature of the Tamils and some
of the agamay and Puranas mention also the elephint as His ve.ucle. Gajavahana (elephant
rider) being one of the important names given to Subrahmanya, this is evidently an emblem
of the presiding deity, viz., Balasubrahmanya. This temple is one of the rare temples
which has the elephant as Subrahmanya’s vehicle. -

The sikhara is bell-shaped with a beautiful curvature, convex followed by concave

- gurfaces. The sikhara resembles that of the Kadambar temple at Narttamalai, with this
difference that underncath the stuoi here, there are two layers of lotus petals-padma and
ratna pattikas whereas in the Kad ;mbar temple there is only one. It is crowned by an
ornamented spherical stone stupi of exquisite workmanship. '

The afdhamandapa is about 8 fest square'forming an'integrated structure with the
-main-shrine. Both the main-shrine and the ardhamandapa have entrances facing west,
-while the mahamandapa has one facing south.

The present presiding deity is a new one, and the original deity of the shrine is found
Jdn the mandapa.  The original deity is a standing figure (Fig. 75) about three feet six inches
4n height and one foot six inches across the shoulders. It has four arms, with sakti (spea.g)
‘and akshamala (garland of beads) in the back upper arms. The front right lower arm ia
4n the abhaya pose and in the left one resting on the hip. 1t has a cross band across tba’.
ahest and wears a karanda-makuta (3 tier type). :
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The temple of Karlyamamklca Perumal called in nscriptions Virudaraja Bhayankara
The mukhamandapa is  different

Winnagara Emberumanar contains some fine sculptures.
All the nine published inscriptions ere

4n style from that of the parts of the temple.
found on the walls of the mukhamandapa only. All of them belong to Pandyan Kings,

and the earliest of them is one of the II[ year of Maravarman Sundara Pandya, who
ascended the throne of Madurai in 1216 A.D. Hence the mahamandapa has been

assigned without amy doubt to the 13th century.



KILANILAI FORT.'

Kilanilai fort is at a distance of 20 miles from Pudukkottai towards Arimalam-
Karaikkudi bus route. The name Kilanilai means the eastern gate or site as distinguished
from another adjacent place - called Melanilai or western gate. Between them is
Pudynilai.

Kilanilai was an impertant military station from the days of the Imperial Cholas
. and Pandyas upto the 19th century. Accor‘di-n'.gvt_o the Ceylonese chronicle, th_e Maohavamsa,
- a line runpning from Ponnamaravati to Kilanilai, and from here to Manamelkudi ‘in the
Tanjore district, divided the Chola and Pandya dominions in the 10th and ilth
- centuries before the final subjugation of the Pandyan kingdom by the Cholas. The line
also marks the northern limit reached by the Sinhalese in their invasion of South India.
The strategic road that ran in the 12th—13th century from Kilanilai to Arantangi in the
east and to Tiruppattur and Poanamaravati. in the west can be seen even now. About
the middle of the 12th century, the Ceylonese general Lankapura, who was in alliance-
with Parakrama Pandya, defeated Kulasekhara, a rival claimant to the Pandyan throne,
". who bad killed Parakrama (C. 1162 A.D.) and placed Vira Pandya, Parakrama’s son, on the-
Madurai throne. During this campaign a sanguinary battle was fought at Kilanilai in which,
according to the. Mahavamsa, the slaughter was so great that the corpses of the slain:
covered a space of four leagues. R

!

According to a local tradition, the fort was built by a Setupaticalled Nondi Maravan.
or the lame Marava. The Trichinopoly Manual states, on the other hand, probably on the
authority of the Tanjore Manual (1883) that it was built by Vijaya Raghava Nayakan, the
- last of the Nayak Kings of Tanjore, who died about 1674. The statistical Account of”

Pudukkottai of 1813 savs that the fort was built with an arsenalin the c!ays of Vijaya Raghu-
niatha Setupati about the year 1683. It is probable that this Setupati, who got possession
of the fort, repaired or extended it by adding an arsenal. In 1756 when the place was
- temporarily occupied by Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman of Pudukkettai; a granary
was built in which to store provision against sieges. The inference to be drawn from these-
different accounts is that it passed through different hands—especially between Tanjore and-
. Rammnad ruleis before it finally came over to Pudukkottai. About 1674 it was under
_“Tanjore. According to Trichinopoly Gagetteer (1907) “it (fort) was captured shortly-
afterwards by the Setupati of Ramnad, and was one of the forts given by that chief in return
- for the alliance of the King of Tanjoie in 1686, and forcibly retaken by the former in 1698.
Henceforth it seems to have become pait of the debatable land which passed from the hands.
of Ramnad to Tanjore in 1771, As early as 1723, the fort and district of Kilanilai were-
. promised to the Tondaimans of Pudukkottai by Tanda Tevan of Ramnad, if he gained the-
throne with the Tondaiman’s assistance.- It also appears that Tukeji, Raja of Tanjore-
(1729-36), granted it to the Tondaiman, that the Tondaiman sold it back to Tanjore on.
~ certain conditions, and that when the conditions were violated, the Tondaiman attempted
- to capture it. In 1749 Manoji, the Tanjore general, ceded it to the Tondaiman on his own
account in return for military assistance, in consequ¢nce of which the Tondaiman actually-
got possession of it immediately. But the Raja of Tanjore refused to ratify the act of his-
general, and ordered Manoji himself to recover it. This happened in 1756. In 1781 it was-
- seized and occupied for a time by Hyder’s army, but was recovered by the Tondaiman in
-~ Angust of the same year, at the request of colone] Braithwaile of the Madras Army. Soon
. after this, the whole of the Tanjore territory was annexed by the British, but Kilanilai, which-
originally formed part of Tanjore but had all along been claimed by the Tondaimans, conti-
nuedto bea subject of dispute till 1803, when it was finally ceded to Pudukkottai,
subject to the annual tribute of an elephant, which-however was never paid, on the ground
that this stipulation was inconsistant with previous tieaties, and with the rank and status-
evjoyed by the rulers, and was formally waived in 1837 by the court of Directors themselves. -
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The extensive fort of historic value(Figs. 76 ard 77) is now in a dilapidated condition
1t was built of laterite quarried clcse by in the Sengiiai and Sakkottai patches. “The area -
~enclosed by the fort walls is 43-61 acres. The first place of interest that a visitor observes ==
within the fort is a small temple of Hanuman. Then he has to approach the témple of *
Ariyanayaki Ammen, the principal temple within the fort. Behind the temple is &
-Ammankulam, to.the south of which is a Vichnu temple. The magazine was located neas
the southern gate, adjoining which are a shrine to Munisvara and an Urani. Thereis as
underground passage, which is now blocked, near the southern gate. Tradition says that i3
was a secret passage leading to the fort at Sakkottai in the Ramnad district. A fairly large
jron cannon lying on one of the ramparts is all that now remains of the efficient milita
equipment with which the fort was once fitted.  The cannon has a date 13th January 19

I its rear part.

. In fsont of the fd: 't‘is an old temple car wzde of wood with good artistic pieces of wood-
carvings, depicting scenes of Hinduism. Near the entrance of the fort is a Sti Chellaswam} -
mut, and Chellaswami samadi, constructed 1ecently cn behalf of a local saint called Chella-




| SIVA TEMPLS.
m
MALAYAKKOVIE. ' _ N

_ . Malayakkovilis at a distance of 12 miles from Padukli>ttai towards Namanisamudeame
Ponnamaravati route anid a mile from Nachchandupatti,- towards north in a branch route.

There is a small rock hill temple dsdicated to Subrahmaaya. Tt can be reached by g
paved incline on the western slope of the hill and a narrow flight of steps on the south. This:
temple, according to an inscription near the flight of steps, was built by a native of
Nachchandupatti towards the close of the ninsteenth century. ' _

Below this hill temple, on the eastern sids is a rosk-cut cubdical cell (Fig. 78) with a
rectangular entrance. This is a-protected monumoant. 1t contains lings which stands
on an octagonal yonipitha, the gomikhi of spout of which is supported.on a rearing lion,
On either side of the entrancé is a shallow nicha flanked by pilasters bearing corbels, the
brackets of which are curved and bear the usuzl Pallava roll-omaments. The ardhamndy-
pa and mahamandapa arelater additionsto the shrine but they are completely dilapidated.
_ There is a nandi and a fractured Valampuri Ganesa which is said to bethere in the Pudukkottal
* manual is missing, There are two other miniature niches on this side of the rock, one of
which contains a /inga. There is an inscription here which is in three parts ; the scripi
of one part is Pallava grantha, and that of the other two Tamil. The Pallava grantha parg
is a lapel reading Parivadinida-Parivadinida is a seven-stringed lute. The lines in Tamil
are not wholly intelligible ; but part of it may bs interpreted as “ behold the method of
learning the science of Parivadini as enunciated or established by Gunasena””. Gunagena
s beligved to be atitle of the Pallava Mahendravarmian I and this cave-temple may, tharefore,
-be attributed to him. . ' o -

The other rock-cut cave-temple is on the southsrn vertical slops of the samz rocl,
- and in plan, resembles the Siva cave-temples at Tirumayam and Malayadipatii. The
cubical sanctum facing west is at the castern end of the cave. It contains a linga which
stands on a circular yonipitha, the spout of which hasno lion to support. :

- In front of the cubical sanctum is a rectangular ardhamindapa, the facade of which-
~ is supported by two pillars and two pilasters of the usual Pallava style, massive and cubieal
at the base and top, and octagonal in the middle, and surmounted by a corbzl with roll-
ornamentation. On the northern wall of the ardhamandapa, waich is the surface of tha
rock, contains four pilasters corresponding to the pillars and pilasters of the facade. Thare
are a nandi in front of the linga and a Vilampuri Ganesa (Fig. 79) in the wast wall of this

- The mahamandapa is a later structure. There are symz layers of pilaster on th> walls
- which shows that they werc once covered with stucco. TO ths east of this cave-temple is a
. miniature square niche with a linga 1n it.

‘The Amman shrine, which is a structure of the late Citola style, stands a little 1o the
south and faces the north. It contains a garbhagriha, ardiamandaps and a mahamandze
pam, . . _ ‘

An inscription, dated in the 3rd vear of Jatavarman Klulasckhara Pandya 1, registers a
remission of taxes on the dewadanam lauds of Sri Varamudaiya Nayanar, which seems to havs
been the name of the /inga in the .rock-cut cave-temple, though, according to an inscription
at Panaiyur, the God was callod Tirukalisvara.



8B NAGANATHASWAMY TEMPLE
PERAIYUR.

Peraiyuris at a distance of 3} miles from Pudukkottai towards south-cast in Ponnas
maravati route, and two miles towards north in.a_ branch road. The linga of the tem-
pleis a Swayambu (Sclf-born). It contains a Siva temple, called Naganathaswami temple
of great renown. Itis about 4 miles from Namanasamudram Railway Station. :

The present garbhagriha of this Siva temple is Pandyan structure of the 12th-13th
centuries. It ssands on a moulded plinth with a vyalavarias the top and a curved kumudam
in the middle. The pilasters are octagonal with rectangular bases, but without nagapadams.
The palagaiis large and square; the padma has well-defined petals. The corbels are ten-
oned:  The kudus in the cornice bear circles with lotus medallions in the centre and scroll
designs atthesides. Above the corniceis an unfinished vyala frieze. '

The walisin the main shrine comtain niches on three sides. The niches are flanked by
circular pilasters and crowned by arched makharatoranas. The southern niche, containg
Dakshinamurti, the western Lingodbhava, and the northern Brahma. The vimana is a
modern brick ssructure. The ardhamandapa is a pillared hall, It contains a swarangae
padai (underground path) which is located in the northern corner of this mandapa. It
was not clearly known where it leads.

The oldess extant structure in the temple is the western gopura. behind the sanctum,
‘the entrance of which is now walled up. It is of the 10th century Chola style, and has
four sided pilasters with massive square palagais; the padmam below is not cut into petals
and the corbels are bevelled, The features of this structure, coupled with the presence
of a Saptamatrika group in bas-relief on a single stone, and an inscription of Rajendra 3
(1012-44) on the rock near the tarn, show that the temple was originally a Chola structure of
the 10th century but was later renovated in the 12th or 13 th century, The eastern or main
" gopura is a Pandya structure; its chief features being pilasters with nagapadams, tenoned
corbels and decorative pilasters with pancaras on top; but the brick work above is
modern. The other mandapas in the prakara are modern. The temple was frequently
renovated; the latest renovationwas towards the close of the last century in the reign of
Raja Ramachandra Tondaiman of Pudukkottai. :

The shrine of the Amman Sri Brihadambal belongs to the close of the 15th or the
beginning of the 16th century, and is of the late Vijayanagar style. The pushpapodigals
. with fully formed flower buds, unconnected with the stem, are characteristic,

There are inscriptionsof Chola, Pandya and Vijayanagar period. The earliest inscrip-
" tion in tho temple is dated in the reign of Rejendra Chola I (1012-14). An order of a -
samantan (A samantan is a chief or general; here , perhaps, an officer whose duty was to
subdue treacherous vassals and safeguard the person of the king) Sriman Mehapradasi
Meysatrukandan (destroyer of personal enemies), granting to the temple the taxes due from
the village of Sendamangalam, is dated 1236 A. D. in the reign of Raja Raja III. Two
inscriptions, which describe Peraiyur asa devadanam and Brahmadeya village are deted
in the reign of an unidensified Kulottungz Chola.  There are three damaged inscription. .
of the 16th censury, one of which refers to the building of a shrine to Chandikesvara,
Ponnambalanatha Tondaiman (about the year 1515) of Arantangi, who was a charitable
ruler, made large grants to this temple. Seventelunta Pallavarayar was a devotee of this
temple. Peraiyur Nadu was one of the divisions of the palayam ruled by the Pallavarayars
~ before it$ conquest or annexation by the Tondaiman rulers. One of the tanks here is stiit
called Pallavankulam. On the outer wall of the tempie kitchen is a damaged inscription
relating to a settlement of a dispute between the Pallars and the Paraiyans to settle whick
three inscriptions on th+ e+hiact in dispute at Tekkattur. Virachchilai and Lembalakkudi
‘were donsulted and compared, under the orders of Raghusatha Raya Tondaiman before

a deelsion was gives.



L " A Sanskrit inscription in Telugu script records the .petformance in 1865 of a
" kumbhgbisekha or purificatory ceremony to the God and Goddess of this temple by _
Ra;a Ramachandra Tondaiman. ,. =~ :

There are some bronzes mostly modern, except that of Nataraja. (Flg 83) 3 feet
-6 mches in height or 5 feet mcludmg thé pedestal, which is of the Chola. stzﬂe ‘The stoae
‘sculptures of Siva and Parvati scated on their bull and of Nataraja (Fig. 81) are fine.
--There are hundreds -of sculptures of fivehooded cobras, (Fig. 82)° msta}led by devotes as

- wotive oﬂ'ermgs Tt is believed that the performing nagaprathwhtai or the snake-mstaliatlon

.-@eremony With suitable tites and prayers will remove barreness in women.: “Theteisa tarn
~ {spting) in front of the central shrine. A curious natural phcnomenon is said to be associy
- ated with the tarn; when the water reaches a certain level on a sloping rock marked with

ot _mteident, a celestial music of the Vina, bell and conch is believed to be heard once a yeas

- 1n the month of Panguni (March-April) being cavsed according to the temp%c legend hg the
' 'ouhip conducted by. Ad;.mba ot as some say Devendea.




VAIDISVARA TEMPLE
- N
TIRUKKULAMBUR -

- Tirukkulambur which is at present known as Tirukkalambur wss also spelt Thirukku-
rumbur in the inscriptions. It is at a distance of 29 miles frcr Pudukkoitei tcwards

Ponnamaravati route.

Tirukkulambur means the “Village of the sacred hoof’. According to a legend, once
upon a time, when a Pandya king was riding in this place, his horse stumbled wlenit placed
its hoof on an object embedded in the ground frcoy which blocd issued.  On examination,
it proved to be a finga which had been broken inadvertently by the horse’s hooves.
The parts were fastened together by a ccpperbard 2nd it had been worshipped ever since,

The linga here is called both Vaidisvara and Kgtalivanesvara or the * Lord of the
plantain forest’, probably from the luxuriant growth of plantains in the temple prakara.
Yhis variety of plantain fruit is believed to cause stcmach-ache when grown and consumed
elsewhere. The garbhagrika is of the Pandya style; and the pillars on the walls support
corbels with pushpapodigais. The corbels of the Amman shrine are bevelled. The
ardhamandapa and mahamandapa are of later style. The presence of Jyestha and
-other sculptures show that the original shrine, which must have dated from abous the 10th
or 11th century, was renewed later, :

There are bronzes 2among which a grovp of Nataraja, Sivakema Sundari ard Manicka-
vasagar are fine, Lingodbhavamurti (Fig. 83) in the westein nicke cf tke main shrine
is highly polished and of exquisite beauty. There arc interestirg scuiptiies beth within
and outside thetemple. The stone bull in fiont is finely ornamented. _ :

The temple contains 12 inscriptions; the earliest of which is dated A. D. 1199 in the
reign of Jatavarman Kulasekhara I, and related to a gift toa Brahmin by Keralan Nisada-
rajan, chief of Tirukkodumkunrem or Piranmalai. An inscripticn, dated A. D. 1259
in the reign of Jatavarman Vira Pandya II, records a sale of land, tenk, well, etc., by the
Ur of Maraiman Vikrama Pandyanaliur. It is not clear whether Maraiman Vikrama
Pandyanallur was another name for Tirukkvlembur or was & different village. Three insciip-
sions are royal orders issued by a Konerinmeikondan (Royal orders were often issued under
the king’s title Konerinmeikondan, instead of with the proper name of the king) probably
Maravarman Kulasekhara II (acc. 1314). One of them relates to a grant of tax-free
devadanam 1and, which was signed by a Tondaiman, and was inscribed on the temple wall by
& padaikkanakku or military accountent. Another records that certain taxes payable to
the king were made over to thetemple for repairs and for the conduct of worship. There is
an inscription (A. D. 1502) of the reign of the Saluva Immadi Narasimha of Vijayanzgar
relating to an order by Narasa Nayakar, the commander-in-chief who was the defacto ruler
of the empire, remitting the tax on oil mills and crderirg the free supply of oil to this
temple for the lamps and to anoint the Gods to secure nerit for Tippeiata, 2 secretsry or

minister of Narasa Nayaka.

At a short distance from this temple towards eest stands snother fine Siva temple
(Fig. 84) which was renovated by Minaksi Sundsra Desikar. The old garbhagriha
is a conserved monument. According to an inscription on the west wall of the central
shrine, this temple was built in memory of 3 Kulasekara Pandya. and the original linga
was known as Kulasekharisvaramudaiyar. ‘The new linge, thet hes now beeninstalled, is

called Tiruvalarolisvarar.

According to the statistical Account of Pudukkottai (1813) a fort was constructed
here by the Nayak Kings of Madurzi which had fzllen irto ruins by 1620. It was near this
village in the jungle of Kaliapur that Kattabomman Nayak, poligar of Panjalzmkurichchi,
and his domb brother Ommaiysn were captured in 1799 by the Tondsiman’s Sardar,
Muthuvairava Ambalagar of Tirukkalambur, a feat celebraved in a pcem ccmposed in
the Kummi metre. : S

C-I 257-7—14



SIVA—VISHNU TEMPLE AND FORT IN TI?.UMAYAM.

The word Tirumayam was derived from the word ‘ Tirumeyvam ' which means
the . * Place of Truth ®(Saaskrit, Satyakshetra). It is situated at a distance of 13 miles
from Padukkottai town towards Karaikkudiroute. ltis now the headquarters of Tiramayam.

tatuk.

The Siva cave-temple is the earliest monument here. It is assigned, on architectural
aad other grouads, to the period of the Pallava Mahsndravarman I. An inscription in-
~ the adjoining Vishnu temple mentions the Muttaraiya Chief called Sattan Maran, a con-

temporary of the Vijayalaya line of Imperial Cholas. Inthe 12th and 13th centuries the
Hoysalas interested themselves in the affairs of the South, first as allies of the Cholas and
later of the Pandyas. Two inscriptions in this temple refer to Appanna, a Dandanayaka
or general of the Hoysala army who while returning from his victorious triumphal march
to Ramsswaram, presided over an important tribunal held at Tirumayam {o settle a long~
standing dispute batween the trustees of the Vishau and Siva temples. In the 13th century,
Tirumayam seems to have passed under Pandyan rule, and to establish the fact there are
inscriptions dated in the reigns of Maravarman Sundara Pandya II, Jatavarman Vira
Pandya III, Jatavarman Parakrama Pandya and an unidentified Vira Pandya.

The Vijayanagar inscriptions are dated in the reigns of Virupaksa I and Krislinadeva
- Raya. In the 15th century, Tirumayam was administered by the chiefs of Surraikkudi.
Parakrama Pandya Vijayalaya Tevar also called Sempaga Ponnayanar, and Avaiyandan
Sundara Pandya Vijayalaya Tevar are the Suraikkudi chiefs mentioned inthe inscrip-
tions. In the 16th and 17th centuries, Tirumayam was a northern outpost of the terri-
tories of the S:tupati of Ramnad, but it was directly administered by the Pallavarayars,
About the year 1636, Vijaya Reghunatha, popularly known as Kilavan Setupati of Ramnad,
& brother-inslaw of Raghunath Raya Tondaiman,the founder of the last ruling house, made
over to the latter the Palayam of Tirumayam. ' (The Setupati, on that occasion, also gave
a sword of honour to Raghunatha which is still preserved in the palace and called Chinng:
Rama Banam, and a tight handed conch which.is said to bring good fortune to its owner).
-Setupati Tanta Tevan confirmed this cession in 1723 in return for military help that he
received from the Tondaiman against Bhavani Saamkar, a rival claimant to the chiefship
of Ramnad. In 1733, Tirumayam was the only place of refuge centre left to the Tondaiman"
when the Tanjore gencral Ananda Row overran the whole of the Pudukkottai country.
Here Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman lay besieged for about a year uatii- Ananda
Row raised the. siege and retired. In 1735, the Raja of Tanjore submitied to the East
India Company a claim for Tirumayam, but did not seriously maintained it. Then is an
wnauthenticated tradftion that at the time of the Poligar war of 1799, Kattaborima
Nayak of Papjalamkurichchi and his dumb brother, were for a time imprisoned in the
Tirumayam Fort before the Tondaiman betrayed them to the English. The truth is thaw
the Poligars, who had taken refuge of their own accord in the jungles of Tondaiman terri-
tory near Tirukkalambur, were captured by the Tondaiman’s men and seut to Madural
at the request of Mr. Lushington, the Collector of the Poligar Peshcusi. During the second
Poligar war, Tirumayam was a depot for Lieutenant Colonel Agnew’s army.

Tirumayam is one of the important religious Worship centres in the South, and its:
temples ate regarded with great veneration both by Vaishnavites and Saivaites.

 The Satyamucrti (Vishnu or the Lord of Trvth) temple is regarded by local Vaishnawites.
to be second in sanctity only to the temple at Srivangam. It is indeed called Adi Rangam
or the original Rangam, and is claimed to be older than the temple at the latter place. A
festival takes place in Mgrgali and lasts twenty days ; the first-ten days ave called Pakgh
pattu, when the processions take plac: in the day time, and the last ten days Rapparru,
when ths procsssions ocour at night. It is believed that those who worship the deity oa
the Ekadasi or eleventh day of this festival are sute of salvation. The other importans
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" festivals are the Chitrapournami and the Nawaratri, and those conducted in the months
of Vaikasi (May-June) and Adi (July-August). The sanctity of this temple has been en-
: hanced by the fact that Tirumangai Alvar, the celebrated Vaishnava Saint sang hymns
in praise of this Lord, Satyamurti (Fig. 85).

The main gopura at the entrance has many of the features of the ‘late Paadya °
style, such as the corbels with puskpapedigais, many sided pillars with nagapadams and
decorative pilasters. The entrance mandapa has tall pillars containing large crude scul
ptures. To the left are three shrines facing east, containing Cakrattalvar ot the presiding
deity of Vishnu’s discus. Andal and Krishna, and to the vight are a shrine to Lakshmi-
Narasimba, and the rooms to keep the processional bronze idols.

Entering the second mandapa, \the 'visitot turns to the Amman shrine to the left.
Unamvamttayar, the Amman, is believed to be very propitious. To the right is 2 narrow
shrine containing the sculptures of the Vaishnavite Acharyas-Ramanvja, Madhurakavi
and others, and the Alvars Behind this mandapa is the mahamandgpa of the Satya-
murti shrine, which contains a shrine for Garuda, the vehicle of Vishnu. This mardapa
is structure of the ‘‘ late Pandya » period, and displays on the walls both decorative and
artistic pilasters and kumbha pancaras. The recess to the north is called Sundara Pandyan-
kuradu and leads to the main shrine of Sri Satyamurti, which is surrounded by cloistered
halls. The principal shrine, which adjoins an overhanging cliff belongs to the *late Pandya ’
period. The pilasters on the walls are round, with square bases and nagapadams; the
idals have delicately carved lotus petals, and the corbels have pushpapodigais. The sculp-
tures of Vishnu on the prakara are of the Pallava period ; and thei images are represanted
as holding the discus as if in the act of hurling it,

The rock-cut shrine of Yogasayanamurti or the god in a recumbent posture (Fig. 86)
is situated to the west of Satyamurti shrine, The two pillars and the two pilasters in this
rock-cut shrine are usually tall ; and the corbels have rolls ornaments of Pallava period.
The mein idol is an imposing sculptuxe lying op a serpent couch ; the five hoods of the
serpent, which cover the god’s head as 2 canopy, are half drawn back-ward The deity
has two arms, one stretched behind hiro as if consoling the serpent named Adisesha, and
the other represented 3s protecting Lakshmi who is seated on his breast. All around
the main idolis a wealth of sculptures including Garuda, Citragupta, Markandeya, Brahma,
the Devas, the Vasus and the Kinnaras. Near the eastern wall are two demons, and shel-
tered near the god’s feet, is the image of Bhuma Devi, the Eerth goddess. The . legend
that s associated with this group of sculptures is that when the demons Madhu and Kalta bha
approached the god in an aggressive attitude, Brohma, Lakshmi and Bhudevi were frighte-
ned. Adisesha,in his sudden wrath, spat poison which consumed the demons,but was immedi-
ately stung with remorse of his hasty action without so much zs ask]rg his Lerd‘s per-
ntission ; but the God comforted him with an assurance of his approval of the act.

To the east of Si1i Satyamurii shrine are those of the Senamudali and Rama (group)
and further east is the holy gate, through which the principal processional ido! is taken
out on the Ekadasi day in Margali month. The Satyapushkarni is fine octagonal tank

symmetrically revetted. (Fig. 87).

The first mandapa the cloistered halls 1ound the Satyamultl shrine and the shxinc
of Rama are the gifts of Chettiyars, the predominant community of Tnumayam A promi-
nent Chettivar family of Karaikkudi has made endowments for daily oﬁ‘ermgs and the
distribution of food to the poor.

At the southern end of thesticet leading to this temple is a shrine to Vedanta Desﬂia
the founder of the Vedagali sect of Vaishnavas.

C-I 257-7—i5
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""", There are thirteen inscriptions in this témple. The earliest is on a slab which is
‘now placed in the western prakara of the Satyamurti shrine, but must have once formed
-a part of the parapet to the steps leading to the cave-temple, and may be ascrived to the-
Iatter part of the 8th century or the early years of the 9th  century A.D. The above
inscription mentions a renovation of the cave-temple and an endowment by Perumbidugu
Perumadevi, mother of Sattan maran also called Videlviduga Viluperadiaraiyan, a contem-
poraryand vassal of the Pallava Kings, Nandivarman IT and Dantivarman. This shows that
the cave-temple must have been in existence before the reign of Nandivarman IT. A dispute
between the priests of the Vishnu and Siva temples for shaiing the pioduce of the temple
‘ldnds was adjudicated in 1245 A.D. the seventh year of the reign of Maravarman Sundara
Pandya TI, by a special tribunal composed of the members of the nadu representing the
towns and villages of the district, the Samayamantris or royal priests, ordinary priests
belonging to Tirumayam and other places, and the ariyars, and presided over by the
Hoysala general Appanna Dandanayaka. : '

There ate two Pandya inscriptions, one dated (1340 A.D.) in thereign of Jatavarman
Vira Pandva I11, and the other (1369 A.D.) in the reign of Jatavarman Parakrama Pandya.
The earlier inscriptions records the sale of Padikkaval rights by the assembly of Tirumayam
to a 1esident of Melakurundanparai, an adjoining military station to Tirumayam.

- Of the Vijayanagar insctiptions, two are dated in the reigns of Virupaksa I, and Krishna- -
deva Raya, while the third is mutilated. The one belonging to the reign of Krishradeva
Raya records a gift of land by Sellappa Vira Narasinga Raya Nayakar to both the Siva
and Vishnu temples in the ratio of 2:3. : o

-The adjoining temple to Satyamurti temple is Satyagirisvaram. The front gopura
is modern, and a good imitation of ‘Late Pandya’ architecture. The first pillared mandapa
congists of shrines of Bhanu Umapatisvara facing the east, that of the Amman Raja
Rajesvari facing the south, and one of Bhairava and the Navagraha group. This group of
shrines is known as the Kilakkovil or the ‘lower temple’. Further up is the shiine of Sri
Venuvanesvari or ‘the Sovereign Lady of the Bamboo foiest’, the principal Amman of
the temple. It is a ‘late Pandya’ structure, renovated very recently. Above this is the
rock-cut shrine of Sri Satyagirisvara. The cell containing the linga with yonipitha
~ is at. the western and of the cave end faces east ; and in the east opposite to the linga
is a big Lingodbhavamurti, (Fig. 88) out in the rock itself. This faces the west i.e.,
the sanctum. In between the linga and Lingodbhava is an ardhamandapa with its.
facade facing south. The pillars and pilasters of the ardhamandapa are of the usual
Pallava style, massive and ocubical at the base and top, and octogonal in the middle, and
carrying a corbel with roll ornamentation. The linga which rests ona circular yomipitha
and the nandi are cut out of the same rock. Thereisa Valampuri Ganesa. The dvarapala-
Kkas have only two arms ; the one on the north has his clothes reaching down the ankles,
wears an yajnopavita of rudraksa beads and a peculiar coiffure, and holds up is right
hand in adoration, while the other figure rests one of his arms-on a club, The walls and
the ccilings were once covered with stucco on which were paintings. All that is now le
of them is a small patch on the ceiling with conventional carpet designs. '

- There are five inscriptions here.. The earliest is on the northern wall of the rock-cut
- -ghrine, at the topisthe Sansksit word ‘Parivadinida’ in. = Pallava—Grantha-character, - and

 followed by some Tamil lines which mention Gunasena, believed to be the title of tho
Fallava king Mahendravarman. Near it was a musical inscription similar to that at
Kudimiyanmalai, but it was obliterated in the 13th century, while recording the award
of the Hoysala Appanna Dandanayaka tribunal. The words that are still legible, refer
to such terms of Indian music as sa(dja), gandhara and dhaiva(ta); These go to prove
that the cave-temple was excavated in the time of Mahendravarman J; and the architec-
- tural features confirm this conclusion.
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- The Port (Fig. 89) adjoining to the temple-is said to have been originafly a ring fort
with seven concentric walls, and a broad moat all round. The lines of the old outer
_ defences are now marked by occasional remains of the works and ditch and by three main
entrances, one on the north, another on the south and the third on the south-east. In
the northern entrance is a shrine to Bhairava, and in the southern are shrines to Hanuman,
Sakti Ganapati and Karuppar-all protecting deities of the fort. The walls above the
rock that enclose the main citadel are comparatively well preserved. The top is accessiblee
very easily on the west side, on which side narrow steps have been hewn in the perpendi~
' boulder. From the existing remains one may conclude that the walls were surmoun:
ted by parapets of strong brickwork, serrated by machicolations and pierced by musketry.
At half-way up to the top, to the right, is a chamber which was used as a magazine.
- Opposite to it, on the western slope of a boulder, a little below the top of the fort, is a
rock-cus cell containing a linga placed on a square yonipitha, the spout of which is
supported by the figure of a dwarf. On the top of the fort is a platform on which a gun is
wounted. To the south of this platform is a tarn. On the perpendicular southern slope
are the rock-cut temples of Siva and Vishnu. To the north-west is another tarn, and to
the south-cast a tank. ‘ . :

The érea enclosed by the ramparis is 39-36 acres. The erection of the fort in 1687 A.D,
(aoeording to the Statistical Account of Pudukkottai 1813) isattributed to the Setupati
Vijaya Raghunatha Tevan.
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Fig. 1. Municipal Office, Pudukkottai. Fig. 2. Protestant Church, Pudukkottai.

Fig. 3. Catholic Church, ’Pudukk?‘l‘!a‘i-f - SRR . .Fig. 4 Mosque, Pudukkottai.
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Fig. 5. Old Palace, Pudukkottai,

Fig. 6. New Palace, Pudukkottai,
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Fig. 7. Public Office Building, Pudukkottal.




Fig. 9. Victoria Jubilee Arch, ~Pudukkottdi.
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Pudukkottai.
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Fig. 13. Saptamatrikas,

Tirugokarnam.
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Fig, 45." Hundred pillared mandapa,
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Kumnandarkovil.
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Fig. 52. Seshasayi,‘_,_Malayadr'patf..
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Fig. 53. Vijayalaya Cholisvaram on Melamalai, Narttcmalai,

Fig, 54. Vijayalaya Cholisvaram, Narttamalai.
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Fig. 59, Row of Vishnu, Narttamalai,

Fig, 60, Siva temple, Panangudi.
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Fig. 76. Kilanilai, Fort,

L

Fig. 75. Subrahmanya,

Kilanila
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Sivg temple, Malayakkovil.
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Fig 85 Satyamurti, Tirumayam,
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Fig. 88. Lingodbhavamurti, Tirumayam.



Fig. 8%. Tirumayam Fort, Tirumayam,
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